DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 422 508 CE 077 040

AUTHOR Barrett, Alan; Hovels, Ben; den Boer, Paul; Kraayvanger,

Geert

TITLE Exploring the Returns to Continuing Vocational Training in

Enterprises. A Review of Research within and Outside of the

European Union. CEDEFOP Pahnorama.

INSTITUTION European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training,

Thessaloniki (Greece).

ISBN -92-828-4450-1

PUB DATE 1998-07-00

NOTE 61p.

AVAILABLE FROM European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training,

PO Box 27, Finikas, GR-55102 Thessaloniki, Greece; e-mail:

info@cedefop.gr; web address: http://www.cedefop.gr

(catalogue no. HX-09-98-001-EN-C: free).

PUB TYPE Information Analyses (070) EDRS PRICE MF01/PC03 Plus Postage.

DESCRIPTORS Adult Education; Annotated Bibliographies; *Continuing

Education; *Cost Effectiveness; Education Work Relationship; Educational Research; Educational Trends; Foreign Countries;

*Industrial Education; Lifelong Learning; Literature Reviews; *Outcomes of Education; Postsecondary Education; Questionnaires; *Research Methodology; Research Needs; Research Problems; Trend Analysis; *Vocational Education

IDENTIFIERS *European Union

ABSTRACT

The returns on continuing vocational training (CVT) in enterprises were examined through a review of research on the returns on employer-provided training. A search of "Econ Lit," ERIC, and other databases identified more than 90 publications on the topic. Twenty-one publications examining the relationship between training inputs and training outputs from a variety of perspectives were selected for in-depth analysis. The following were among the review's main conclusions: strict rates of return have rarely been calculated; training is shown to have positive effects on wages and productivity; evidence suggests that training received from one employer increases productivity and wages with another employer; and selection effects matter in training. The studies were also analyzed from the standpoint of the issues involved in measuring the returns to CVT investments. The amount of empirical research concerned with estimating returns to CVT was discovered to be relatively sparse and underdeveloped. It was recommended that more thought be given to methodological issues, such as the suitability of qualitative and quantitative research and whether they can complement one another. (The 21 studies are summarized in an annotated bibliography. The document contains 93 references.) (MN)

Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made

IIII PANORAMA

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION Office of Educational Research and Improvement EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)

This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.

- Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality.
- Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy.

Exploring the

returns to

continuing

vocational

training in

enterprises

PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE AND DISSEMINATE THIS MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED BY

Frankers

TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)

A review of research within and outside of the European Union

A report prepared on behalf of CEDEFOP by:

Dr Alan Barrett Economic and Social Research Institute Dublin, Ireland

Prof Dr Ben Hövels, Drs Paul den Boer and Drs Geert Kraayvanger Instituut voor Toegepaste Sociale Wetenschappen Nijmegen, the Netherlands





ERIC PERIODEN PROHIBOTO VENICO

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

Exploring the returns to continuing vocational training in enterprises A review of research within and outside of the European Union

This report was prepared by:

Dr Alan Barrett

Economic and Social Research Institute 4 Burlington Road Dublin 4 Ireland

Prof Dr Ben Hövels, Drs Paul den Boer and Drs Geert Kraayvanger

Instituut voor Toegepaste Sociale Wetenschappen Toernooiveld 5 PO Box 9048 6500 KJ Nijmegen The Netherlands

July 1998

on behalf of CEDEFOP - European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training

Edited by Sarah Elson-Rogers and Sven-Åge Westphalen under the responsibility of Stavros Stavrou, Deputy Director - CEDEFOP

Thessaloniki 1998

Published by: CEDEFOP - European Centre for the **Development of Vocational Training** Marinou Antipa 12 GR-57001 Thessaloniki

Postal address:

PO Box 27 - Finikas GR-55102 Thessaloniki

Tel.

(30-31) 49 01 11

Fax

(30-31) 49 01 02

E-mail:

info@cedefop.gr

Internet:

http://www.cedefop.gr

Interactive: http://www.trainingvillage.gr

The Centre was established by Regulation (EEC) No 337/75 of the Council of the European Communities, last amended by Council Regulation (EC) No 251/95 of 6 February 1995 and Council Regulation (EC) No 354/95 of 20 February 1995.



A great deal of additional information on the European Union is available on the Internet. It can be accessed through the Europa server (http://europa.eu.int)

Cataloguing data can be found at the end of this publication

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 1998

ISBN 92-828-4450-1

© European Communities, 1998 Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

Printed in Luxembourg



Foreword by Sarah Elson-Rogers

This report contains a review of research undertaken within and beyond the European Union to identify and measure the returns to continuing vocational training (CVT) in enterprises. The report is not written as an end in itself, but rather as an input to a longer term CEDEFOP project to undertake further research in this area. Increasing investment in enterprise CVT is one aspect of achieving the notion of 'lifelong learning for all', but the general lack of information as to the returns of such training for the state, sectors, enterprises, and individuals means that there are a number of difficulties in evaluating current and future investment decisions. This information 'gap' is not easy to fill, partly due to insufficient methodological tools and data, but also due to certain conceptual constraints: for example, defining CVT, given that it is a generic term encompassing a number of different training activities.

The aim of this *review* is, therefore, to discuss a number of these difficulties and summarise how existing studies have approached them as a means to assess how existing work might be developed or supplemented. While the original parameters for this review were wide, the scope of the existing research turned out to be narrower than initially expected; hence as a *review* the report concentrates on available work, much of which has been done in the U.S. It is worth noting that many of the studies are very recent (post 1990), which indicates a growing interest and ability to explore the returns to enterprise CVT.

Alan Barrett, an economist from the Economic and Social Research Institute (ESRI) in Ireland, and Ben Hövels, a sociologist from the Institute voor Toegepaste Sociale Wetenschappen (ITS) in the Netherlands prepared this report as a preliminary stage in which it is intended to stimulate debate on how additional research in this area could best be undertaken. The disciplinary mix of the participants ensured that a broad range of research was included.

In order that this report represent a true discussion document, CEDEFOP would be very interested in hearing other views concerning existing or future research projects into the



Č

returns to enterprise CVT. In addition, we would welcome your views on this report and your suggestions for future work. For this reason, a questionnaire accompanies this report as a means to gain additional insights and ideas from a number of other sources. On this basis, participation in this work could be extended so as to formulate and execute a research project.

If you would like a copy of this questionnaire, please do not hesitate to contact:

Sarah Elson-Rogers/Sven-Åge Westphalen

CEDEFOP

P.O. Box 27 (Finikas)

GR-55102

Thessaloniki

Greece

E-mail: ser@cedefop.gr/saw@cedefop.gr

Fax: 00 30 31 490 117

The deadline for comments is the end of November 1998.

We would like to thank you for giving this first report your attention and look forward to receiving your comments and suggestions in the near future.

Sarah Elson-Rogers/Sven-Åge Westphalen

Stavros Stavrou

Project co-ordinators

Deputy Director, CEDEFOP



Table of Contents

Section 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Research to date	2
1.3 Methodology for this review	3
The internetional for time versus,	-
Section 2: Description of the studies	5
2.1 The studies	5
2.2 Conclusions	20
Section 3: Some central issues - an overview and discussion	25
3.1 Evaluating CVT returns at the enterprise level	25
3.2 Levels of evaluation	27
3.3 Types/forms of training	29
3.4 Types of returns	31
3.5 Who receives the returns	<i>33</i>
3.6 Methodologies	37
Section 4: Conclusions and further work	41
4.1 Conclusions	41
4.2 Further work	44
Section 5: References	47



SECTION 1: Introduction

1.1 Background

This review presents research which has attempted to estimate the returns to employer-provided training, discusses the conceptual and methodological issues which have arisen in this context, and suggests ways in which research in this area can be usefully expanded. Before getting into the detail of the review, it is important to explain why these are important issues and why additional research effort should be employed.

In a world of growing international competition and accelerating technological change, firms face a variety of pressures and challenges related to training. Competition requires that costs be contained; all areas of possible containment, including training, must be assessed. Competition also requires, however, that the workforce of each firm be as productive as possible, thus creating a need for increased training expenditure; technological change generates similar pressures. It is this tension between the reasons for increasing and reducing training at the level of the firm that produces the need for a rigorous understanding of the returns to training. Without reliable information on the relationship between the costs and benefits of training, decisions on the financing of training must be made on the basis of hunches and impressions. In such a setting, the potential for the misallocation of resources to training is large, for example, through insufficient investment in training or through excessive spending on certain types of training.

In a similar manner, competitive pressures have required those within firms who are responsible for training to prove the benefits of training in terms of the effect on the "bottom line". Just as firms increasingly buy in services rather than provide them from within, there are growing pressures to hire in employees with the required skills, even for very short periods, as opposed to training existing staff and providing them with the skills. As a result, the nature of the employment relationship is changing with an increase in, for example, short-term contracts. In such a situation, the long-term goals of employers and employees may differ given that it is less likely that they will have a long-term



relationship. Employees who are transitory will want their training to be general in nature so that they can transfer it easily. The work of Becker (1975) reviewed below indicates that this makes it more likely that firms will not finance training; hence, the burden is more likely to fall on employees themselves or the state.

While the need for estimating the returns to training may seem clear, the question can still be asked as to why such estimation should not be left to individual companies. Alternatively, why is it important for social science researchers to explore this issue? There are a number of dimensions to the answer. If firms feel under pressure to economise on their training expenditure, they are even more likely to face such pressures in relation to devoting resources to training evaluation. Hence firms may not undertake the evaluations¹. But even if they do, independent social scientists still have a role. First, it is rare that individual companies publish evaluation results, so any information generated tends not to be disseminated. Second, and more importantly, evaluations done by individual firms will yield results which are specific to the firm itself. It requires the social scientist's expertise to generate results which are more generally applicable through the use of standardised techniques in the study of a larger range of companies.

1.2 Research to date

It is only in recent years that researchers have begun to make attempts at measuring the returns to employer-provided training. Although they have been estimating the returns to more formal schooling for many years, returns to employer-provided training were thought to be captured by estimating the link between work experience and wage growth. Just as wages were seen to be higher for individuals with more schooling, so also were wages seen to be higher for individuals with more work experience and longer tenure in a particular job. The interpretation put on this finding was that workers receive training in jobs and become more productive over time. By looking at how wages rose with experience and making assumptions on the costs of training, rates of return could be estimated.

¹ This point is returned to in Section 3.1 below.



The assumed link between the earnings-experience profile and training came to be questioned in the 1970s and 1980s from both theoretical and empirical perspectives. One theoretical question was raised by Lazear (1979). He argues that wages rise with experience because employers want to provide workers with an incentive to remain with the firm; if higher wages are postponed to later in the worker's career, the worker will be induced to remain with the employer. If this is true, then wages are not necessarily linked with experience and productivity, as is implied by the training argument. On the empirical front, the paper by Medoff and Abraham (1981) raised further questions about the link between experience and productivity. Drawing on the personnel files of a large firm, they were able to demonstrate that although more experienced workers were paid more, they were no more productive.

Given the questions that had been raised by these authors and others, it was clear that an important avenue of research was the direct estimation of the benefits of training. As will be seen below, the lines of enquiry followed have included estimating the link between training and wages (as opposed to experience and wages), the link between training and productivity, and the effects of training on other variables such as reducing the incidence of unemployment and increasing job satisfaction. Studies have also begun to differentiate between different forms of training, for example, off-the-job and on-the-job.

1.3 Methodology for this review

As with all research in the social sciences, the studies whose quality has been validated through peer-review can be found in scientific journals, and so it was primarily to these journals that we turned in looking for research on the topic. We have, however, also drawn on working papers which allow us to consider the most recent work. In searching for studies we began by looking through the relevant records in the CD-ROM version of *Econ Lit*, which is the most comprehensive reference collection for journal articles and books in economics, and through relevant data-files such as ERIC. We also consulted colleagues who provided other references, in particular references to studies as yet



unpublished. Finally, we studied recent reviews which touched on the issues of interest here.

It should be noted that at the outset of the literature search, the definition of 'returns' being employed was wide, i.e. we were looking at the returns to enterprise training for individuals, the enterprise and the state on the assumption that this incorporated both training effects and training effectiveness. It can be seen that many of the studies reviewed below have looked at returns only in terms of the 'effects' of training on productivity and wage growth rather than the effectiveness of the training process itself, and the review reflects this.

It should also be noted that this review, due to a lack of information, does not address in a detailed way the issue of whether returns differ according to who funds employer-provided training. We know that in some countries enterprise training receives a high level of state subsidy, while in others, individuals are expected to co-invest in training with the enterprise. At this stage, we are merely concerned with studies which have attempted to establish a causal link between the provision of training within the enterprise and a 'return', as a means to assess who should fund training.

The content and structure of this review has therefore been determined to a large degree by the content of the studies included, the scope of which turned out to be narrower than expected. As mentioned, we had intended to include studies which looked at returns to individuals, firms and the state. The state perspective, however, is particularly underdeveloped, and the review reflects this by focusing its discussion on the returns for the enterprise and the individual. While the impact of education on growth rates across countries has been addressed in the economics literature, very little work has been done on employer-provided CVT. This in itself is an interesting finding.



SECTION 2: Description of the studies

In the first part of this section, we present outlines of a range of studies which have looked at the relationship between training inputs and training outputs from a variety of perspectives. Rather than arranging the studies into categories, we have decided to present the studies initially in a chronological fashion. In the second part of the section, we will draw out the conclusions of the studies, and at this point a categorisation of sorts will emerge.

2.1 The studies

Booth, Alison L. (1991), "Job-Related Formal Training: Who Receives It and What is It Worth?", Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 53, No. 3, pp. 281-294.

As the title suggests, Booth's interest was in establishing who received training and, more importantly for current purposes, what the wage gain was for those who trained. The usefulness of drawing on a large-scale survey of individuals to explore the relationship between training inputs and outputs is seen in the study. Booth's data comes from the British Social Attitudes Survey of 1987. This is a representative sample of the entire population; however, only employees from this sample are included in the analysis, leaving 1,365 individuals. The individuals in the survey are asked to provide information on the amount of training they have received. However, the data used by Booth contain a weakness. Training in the survey is broken down by 'formal' and 'informal' training, with 'formal' loosely relating to a structured approach to training and 'informal' including activities like watching others doing the job. Clearly this is a useful distinction, but some of the usefulness is lost because formal training is reported by the individual in days undertaken while informal training is only reported as having been undertaken or not. Booth finds a significant relationship between training and wages, with the effect being particularly evident for women.



Lynch, Lisa (1992), "Private-Sector Training and the Earnings of Young Workers", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 82, No. 1, pp. 299-312.

Lynch (1992) begins her study of the link between training and wages by making the following observation:

Due to a lack of appropriate data, researchers have been unable to examine directly the impact of private sector training on wages in any comprehensive way. Consequently, many have had to infer this impact from the shape of wage profiles. (p 299)

She overcomes this difficulty by drawing on a survey conducted in the United States, the National Longitudinal Survey youth cohort (NLSY). In this survey, 12,686 males and females who were 14-21 years of age at the end of 1978 were interviewed every year starting in 1979; Lynch uses the data up to 1983. Extensive information on their training activities is collected. In particular, individuals report how many weeks they had spent in on-the-job training, off-the-job training (such as in vocational colleges) and in apprenticeships. Information on wages is also included.

Such data allows Lynch to do two things. First, she can work out how individual characteristics influence the likelihood of receiving training. As this is not our primary interest here, we will look at her second task, that is estimating how different forms of training effect wages. She finds, among other things, that off-the-job training acquired with either the current or previous employers increases wages. She does this by estimating regression equations, with the log of wages as the dependent variable. However, on-the-job training with a previous employer does not increase wages. The difference in the impact of on- and off-the-job training with a previous employer may be because the 'on' may be specific to that employer whereas the 'off' may be more general. It could also be that current employers are only prepared to recognise off-the-job training from a previous employer because the content is more transparent.



Holzer, H., R. Block, M. Cheatham, and J. Knott (1993), "Are Training Subsidies for Firms Effective? The Michigan Experience", *Industrial and Labour Relations Review* Vol. 46, No. 4, pp. 625-636.

Unlike the previous two studies which looked at training benefits from the perspective of the individual, this study looks at training from the perspective of the firm. The data used arose out of a grant programme run by the State of Michigan, through which grants were made available to manufacturing companies for the financing of training. By surveying companies which had received grants, and others who had applied but did not receive a grant, a data set was generated with information on training inputs and companies' outputs. Hence, the authors were able to explore whether there was a link between the two, working with samples of between 171 and 250 firms.

One particularly useful feature of the data is that it provides information on the companies over a number of years. In attempting to link training and productivity this is important. With data for one year, any observed relationship between training and productivity must be treated with caution. If there is an aspect of the firm which is correlated with training and which also increases productivity, but which is not observed in the data, then the effect of training may be overstated. For example, if management quality is high in a firm, this may lead to greater training and to greater productivity. A statistical analysis with one year of data will miss this point and will attribute the management effect on productivity to training, thus overstating the effect of training. With data for more than two years, this problem is reduced somewhat. If the unobserved characteristics of the firm do not change over time, it is possible to look at how productivity changes across firms are related to changes in training.

Holzer et al. use the scrappage rate¹ as a measure of productivity and hours of training per employee as their measure of training. They find that increased training reduces the scrappage rate; for example, a doubling of the amount of training per employee reduces the scrappage rate by about 7 percent. Hence, they find evidence of a direct link between training and productivity.

¹ The "scrappage rate" is the proportion of units manufactured that must be discarded due to faults.



Van Sandick, A.S., and A.M. Schaap-Neuteboom (1993), Het rendement van een bedrijfsopleiding: Een instrument voor het bepalen van het financiële rendement van trainingen, Groningen: RUG.

This study involved the estimation of the profitability of training for managers in a large Dutch supermarket. As all managers underwent training, it was not possible to conduct a treatment-and-control-type study. Instead, the approach adopted was to compare managers, who underwent training, with others who performed the same tasks as managers on occasions, but who were not managers and thus did not undergo training. The effectiveness of the training was evaluated by means of interviews with the employees in question, more senior managers and other employees.

The most interesting aspect of the study for current purposes involves the manner in which the perceived effects of training were translated into monetary amounts. It is a general theme of this review that putting monetary values on the effects of training is not a simple matter, and as such, the approach used here may point to a possible pragmatic approach to overcoming this difficulty. In essence, the effects of training for each worker are estimated on a number of 5-point scales. Scores for each worker are calculated, and assumed monetary values are attached to them. There is clearly an ad hoc element in the selection of the monetary values, but the approach does allow for a range of estimates. It can be argued that the range can be too large to be useful and this is certainly an argument that must be taken seriously.

Bartel, A. (1994), "Productivity Gains from the Implementation of Employee Training Programs", *Industrial Relations*, Vol. 33, No. 4, pp. 411-425.

Bartel (1994) looks at the link between training and productivity using another survey of employers, the Columbia Business School survey. Like Holzer et al., her data covers a number of years, so it is possible to relate changes in training input to changes in productivity. Her measure of productivity is based on sales. Her training measure is somewhat weak in that it is the proportion of workers trained. She does find a positive



effect of training, although interpreting the effect is difficult because of the nature of her training variable.

Bishop, John H. (1994), "The Impact of Previous Training on Productivity and Wages", in Lisa Lynch (ed.), *Training and the Private Sector: International Comparisons*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

A different approach to testing for the training/wage link is taken by Bishop (1994). Whereas other studies such as Booth (1991) and Lynch (1992) used large-scale surveys of individuals, Bishop uses two surveys of employers conducted in the United States. The first is the Employment Opportunity Pilot Project - National Centre for Research in Vocational Education (EOPP-NCRVE) survey which was undertaken in 1982. Although 3,412 owners/managers were interviewed for this survey, only 480 were of use to Bishop in this study due to the particular nature of the analysis. The second survey was one conducted by the National Federation of Business; questionnaires were mailed to around 11,000 firms, of which 2,599 responded. For his analysis, Bishop was able to use 2,285.

In these surveys, amongst other things, the employers were asked to provide information on two of their employees, in particular information on their training, wages and productivity. Bishop then compares the experiences of the two workers across a large number of firms. In order to explore the link between training and the outcomes of interest, Bishop constructs a 'training-time index'; he does this by taking the amount of time reported in different forms of training and multiplying it by the cost of that time. If a trainer is involved in the training, this cost is added to the cost of the trainee's time. In general, Bishop finds that training increases wages and productivity, but he draws attention to two other findings. First, the increase in productivity is greater than the increase in wages, so training is profitable for employers. Second, training received from a previous employer increases wages, but again, it increases productivity more. Hence, there is a 'spillover' from employer-provided training, in that the training provided by one employer benefits another.



Groot, Wim, Joop Hartog and Hessel Oosterbeek (1994a), "Returns to Within Company Schooling of Employees: The Case of the Netherlands", in Lisa Lynch (ed.), *Training and the Private Sector: International Comparisons*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Groot et al. (1994a)² draw attention to an important issue in the estimation of training effects, that is the fact that training is likely to be acquired by those who will use it best. It may be that employers will chose to train certain workers or because certain workers will volunteer for training; either way, there will be a selection process. The importance of this point in estimating the effect of training on wages is that if the observed effect is based on those who were selected for training, and not randomly assigned to training, the effect for the random individual will be over-stated. Using Dutch data, Groot et al. employ a particular statistical technique to take account of the selection issue. They show that while the effect of training on the wages of those who participate is positive, there would not have been a positive effect for those who do not participate, had they trained.³

Diederen, J. (1994), Opleidingsniveau en heroepsloophaan: Over de effecten van initiële opleiding en additionele scholing op de heroepsloophaan van lager opgeleiden, Nijmegen: ITS.

This study is based on a large-scale survey of individuals. The researchers had available to them a longitudinal dataset based on a group of people who left primary education in 1965; the most recent interviews took place in 1987. For the purpose of the study, only the less educated were analysed, leaving a sample of 780. The dataset allowed the researchers to assess how both initial training and post-initial training had affected wages. However, a range of other dependent variables were looked at; for example, unemployment, job and function changes, motivation, attitudes to work and general career success were also considered. It was found that CVT increased interest in work

² The point is also made and developed empirically in Groot (1995).

The selection issue is discussed in Booth (1991) and Lynch (1992), and Lynch estimates a model where a selection-correction procedure is used; however, the point is not stressed in either of these two studies. Another paper by Groot et al. (1994b) is concerned with the self-selection of individuals into employer-provided training programmes.



and also the willingness to change jobs. Again, this raises the issue of other dimensions of training effectiveness which could possibly be measured.

Lynch, Lisa and Sandra Black (1995), "Beyond the Incidence of Training: Evidence from a National Employers Survey", National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 5231, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Black, Sandra and Lisa Lynch (1996), "Human Capital Investments and Productivity", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 86, No. 2, pp. 263-267.

Black, Sandra and Lisa Lynch (1997), "How to Compete: The Impact of Workplace Practices and Information Technology on Productivity", National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 6120, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

The estimation of the training/productivity relationship has recently been advanced in a series of papers by Lisa Lynch and Sandra Black (Lynch and Black, 1995; Black and Lynch, 1996; and Black and Lynch, 1997). As with many aspects of empirical research in the social sciences, their advances have been facilitated by a new dataset which, as the authors put it, "was designed to overcome some of the limitations of previous studies and collect more precise data on human-capital inputs and establishment inputs" (Black and Lynch, 1996, p. 263). The dataset derives from a survey from the National Center on the Educational Quality of the Workforce National Employers Survey (EQW-NES); through a phone survey in 1994 it generated responses from 1,621 manufacturing companies and 1,324 non-manufacturing companies.

The authors use the data for a number of purposes. For current purposes, the first results of interest are found in the 1995 paper⁴. Production functions are estimated for the manufacturing and non-manufacturing sectors, in which dimensions of training are included along with the more usual factors in production functions such as capital and labour. The results on training are interesting; the number of workers trained is not

⁴ The same results are found in the 1996 paper, a published version of a section of the 1995 working paper.



found to have a significant effect on productivity, but this masks the effects of different dimensions of training, which do matter. In manufacturing the higher the proportion of training that is off-the-job, the higher is productivity. Similarly, in non-manufacturing firms the type of training matters for the productivity effects; in particular, training in computer skills increases productivity.

As the results presented in the 1995 and 1996 papers of Black and Lynch are based on data from a single year, they suffer from the problem discussed above of failing to take into account time-invariant unobservables.⁵ In the 1997 paper, they attempt to overcome this problem by supplementing the EQW-NES data with data from the Longitudinal Research Database (LRD) of the United States Bureau of the Census. The authors were able to match the companies in the EQW-NES with records in the LRD and thereby create a dataset with over time information on the companies. In re-estimating their earlier work, they now find no effect of training on productivity; however, this might be because the information on training was too weak for its effect to be captured in the extended estimation framework. What does emerge from this study is the interesting effect that workplace practices have on productivity. In particular, greater involvement of workers in decision-making and the use of performance-related pay are seen to generate higher productivity relative to the more traditional labour/management relations. Such workplace practices will be discussed again below in the context of the paper by Ichniowski et al.

Ichniowski, Casey, Kathryn Shaw and Giovanna Prennushi (1995), "The Effects of Human Resource Management Practices on Productivity", National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 5333, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

While this paper is limited in its references to training, it is nonetheless of interest both from a methodological point of view and for its results. The purpose of the paper is to assess the impact of human resource management practices generally, including training. However, the focus is not so much on the effects of individual policies; rather, an attempt is made to estimate the effects of collections or systems of policies. The theory underlying this approach is that human resource policies will have



complementary effects: the use of certain policies in isolation will have a weaker effect than when such policies are combined with other human resource measures.

In order to test the theory, the authors visited 26 steel plants in the United States and collected longitudinal data on workplace practices, productivity, technology and wages. They restricted their attention to a very specific process, thereby easing the comparisons across workplaces. The measure of productivity used was the proportion of "up-time" in production, i.e. the proportion of time during which the process was not stopped for whatever reason. They found that the hypothesis of complementarity among human resource measures, including training, was supported by their data. A similar finding on workplace practices can be found in Black and Lynch (1997), referred to above: they find that the effect of a human resource policy depends not so much on its introduction but on the manner of that introduction, i.e. whether other polices are introduced along with it. Such findings raise an important consideration for further research into the effects of training: if the effects are enhanced by the presence of other policies, it will be useful to structure the research so that this can be captured.

Ichniowski et al. discuss another important issue which deserves our attention: having found that the introduction of human resource management systems produces productivity gains across the sample of firms, they ask why it is that not all workplaces introduce such systems. Their suggested answer centres on the indirect costs of introducing such policies. In particular, where workers resist doing things in a new way, the costs generated by of the upheaval caused may outweigh any long-term productivity benefits. This point is important in that while training may have positive effects on average, a firm's decision not to provide training may not necessarily be due to its managers' ignorance of training benefits.

⁵ This is acknowledged by the authors; see p. 266 of the 1996 paper.



₋₁₃₋ 20

Ottersten, Eugenia Kazamaki, Thomas Lindh and Erik Mellander (1996), "Cost and Productivity Effects of Firm Financed Training", The Industrial Institute for Economic and Social Research Working Paper No. 455, Uppsala, Sweden.

Ottersten, Eugenia Kazamaki, Thomas Lindh and Erik Mellander (1997), "Evaluating Firm Training Effects on Performance and Labor Demand", mimeo.

One of the few European econometric studies is that of Ottersten et al. (1996)⁶. The primary contribution of this study is to the theoretical modelling of the effects of training. Whereas all studies discussed to date have focused on the relationship between training and productivity, Ottersten et al. present a model of the relationship between training and cost reduction. There is, of course, an inverse relationship between productivity and cost, so while the focus may be different, the core issue is the same as in the studies already reviewed. The authors test their model using annual data from eight Swedish firms in the machine tool industry for the years 1975-1993; empirically they find large cost effects of training, although the effects as measured by productivity are smaller⁷.

Von Bardeleben, R., U. Beicht and K. Fehér (1995), "Betrachtung des Nutzens betrieblicher Ausbildung", in U. Beicht, R. von Bardeleben and K. Fehér (eds.), Betriebliche Kosten und Nutzen der Ausbildung. Ergebnisse aus Industrie, Handel und Handwerk, Bielefeld: Bertelsman

Although this study was primarily concerned with training under the German dual system, and as such relates to initial training, it raises a number of issues which are relevant to this review, given that the training being studied is enterprise training. Two approaches were taken in considering the costs and benefits of training. A large-scale survey was conducted, in which 1,370 enterprises were interviewed. However, as it was

One other European study is that of de Koning and Gelderblom (1992). As their dataset is particularly small (50 companies), their finding of no impact of training on productivity is of limited use. Ottersten et al. have fewer firms in their dataset, but the availability of annual data for 18 years adds richness to their data.



⁶ Their 1997 study has a similar orientation.

believed at the outset that capturing the benefits of training would be difficult using this approach, case studies were also undertaken.

While it was concluded from the case studies that it was extremely difficult to get reliable information on the returns to training in monetary terms, the survey included a number of questions which allowed for other effects of training to be identified. Firms were asked their reasons for training workers as opposed to hiring workers who are already trained, so in a sense the issue being considered is the cost-effectiveness of training relative to hiring those already trained. Among the reasons for training mentioned by a large proportion of firms were the following:

- 1. To get skilled workers who could not be recruited from the labour market;
- 2. To avoid high turnover, by tying the workers more closely to the firm;
- 3. To be able to identify the best workers from among the trainees.

The value of this study is to generate thought on what dimensions of training, other than productivity growth, may be measurable.

Van der Sanden, J.M.M., and G.E.J.M. Hornman (1995), "Zelfstandig leren op de werkplek met behulp van de Leittextmethode", in M. Mulder and W.S. de Grave (eds.), Ontwikkelingen in branche- en bedrijfsopleidingen, Utrecht: Lemma.

The dimension of the "training-returns-estimation" issue to which this study draws attention is the potential for focusing on a very particular type of training. In the study, the 'Leittext' method⁸ was being evaluated; this method aims to empower and encourage workers to learn and to work independently. The approach adopted was to compare two small groups of workers, those who underwent the 'Leittext' training, and those who did not. The methodology used is also instructive, in that the study gathered information on both the treatment and control groups both before and after the training,

⁸ The Leittext method is an approach to training which aims to stimulate learning and working in a self-regulated way. Training constructed according to this method, for individuals or groups, usually entails a number of well-defined instructions. To perform each of these instructions, six different cyclical phases have to be passed: informing, planning, decision-making, executing, controlling and evaluating (and back to informing again, etc.). Each phase involves both theory and practice learning.



thereby creating the potential for measuring the net effects of the training. However, a general difficulty in this area was also highlighted; managers found it difficult to evaluate whether there was an increase in the willingness of workers to work independently.

Von Bardeleben, R., U. Beicht, H. Herget, and E. M. Krekel (1996), *Individuelle Kosten und individuelle Nutzen beruflicher Weiterbildung*, Bielefeld: Bertelsmann.

This study involved a survey in which reasons for training were sought. While some studies have asked firms their reasons (von Bardeleben et al., 1995), this study was concerned with individuals. This study aimed to assess the individuals' views of the extent to which their goals in training had been realised. The main contribution of the study for current purposes is the identification of training effects other than the wage effect. Again like the previous study, the development of measures of training other than the wage effect may facilitate work in this area. Among the goals identified by the individuals surveyed were better work performance, more interesting or responsible tasks and increased mobility. One of the most interesting findings of the study was that higher wages ranked below a range of other training goals. If this finding generalises to other populations, it has important implications for which dimensions of training effectiveness we should be measuring. Another interesting finding was that the priorities which individuals held for training differed between Eastern and Western Germany; this indicates that societal, or more specifically, labour-market-related conditions impact upon the goals of training.

Huselid, Mark A. and Brian E. Becker (1996), "Methodological Issues in Cross-Sectional and Panel Estimates of the Human Resource-Firm Performance Link", *Industrial Relations*, Vol. 35, No. 3, pp. 400-422.

In discussing the work of Holzer et al. above, we referred to the advantages of studies which present data over time on a cross-section of firms, i.e. a panel. Such datasets allow for *changes* in practices to be associated with *changes* in productivity, thereby avoiding upward biases in estimates where a correlation exists between the presence of training and unobserved firm characteristics. While Huselid and Becker accept this



advantage, they point out that in working with differences in values over time another difficulty is introduced into the analysis, that of measurement error. If recorded values of any independent variable are not entirely accurate measures of, for example, training input, but instead are subject to a random measurement error, the coefficient estimates associated with that variable will be biased downwards. If measurement error exists, the difficulties it creates are increased in differenced equations; the authors believe this to be a serious problem in accurately measuring the effects of human resource measures generally.

An additional point made by Huselid and Becker relates to response rates for surveys used in this type of research. In their own study, they mailed questionnaires to 3,477 firms in 1992 and 3,847 firms in 1994. However, response rates were only in the 20-30 percent range. In addition, less than 10 percent of firms responded to both surveys, further restricting the panel estimates. Such low response rates inevitably raise questions about possible selection biases in responses, and while statistical techniques are available to correct for selection bias, the small sample sizes can reduce their usefulness. Huselid and Becker are of the impression that the lack of response arises because companies have a policy of not responding to surveys and/or because their workloads preclude participation. The authors comment that "such policies will only make survey research on this topic more difficult in the future". In the short term, the lesson would appear to be that while studies based on samples with low response rates can yield insights, results must be interpreted and applied carefully.

OECD (1996), Measuring What People Know: Human Capital Accounting for the Knowledge Economy, Paris: OECD.

We include this study in the review not so much because of the methodology involved, but because of its general subject matter. The issue which this study investigates is whether human capital accounting is possible and feasible in theoretical and practical terms.

Economists currently estimate human capital on the basis of schooling years or formal educational attainment levels, regardless of actual productive capacity. Financial



accounting and reporting mechanisms ignore even these crude measures and, due to certain conventions, omit the value of human capital from the balance sheet.

A review of innovative policies in OECD countries shows that progress has been made in moving beyond the basic information provided in standard educational certificates. Encouraged by the notion of a 'knowledge economy', government policy makers, human resource managers, financial accountants and educationalists are developing methods for systematically evaluating and recording knowledge as assets acquired through experience, education and training.

This study explains why it is possible in terms of economic theory, and feasible from the perspective of accounting practice, to implement new human capital information and decision-making systems. Reviewing the steps already being taken by individuals, firms and governments to improve the functioning of human capital markets leads to the conclusion that public policy must focus on the development of better signals for competence validation, valuation, accounting and financial reporting. Embracing a pragmatic approach, the policy directions suggested here build on the emerging new standards and institutions. According to this study, in the future the largest share of value-added in the economy as a whole will come from activities where people add their personal knowledge, insight and vision to a product (tangible or intangible). The radical break occurs when a large share of the economy shifts away from activities that are routine, repetitive and based on someone else's instructions to production that is inventive, customised or personalised.

Grünewald, U., D. Moraal, D. Gnahs, F. Draus and R. Weiß (1997), Abschlußbericht zum BMBF-Projekt Formen der 'weichen Bildung' (draft version).

This study is concerned with the possibilities of generating quantitative information on what the authors refer to as 'informal' types of training or 'work-integrated' training. In the course of the study, the authors also identify a range of sub-categories within 'informal' training. Broadly defined, they create sub-categories along the dimensions of off-the-job and on-the-job training and also along the dimensions of individual and



-18- 25

group processes. Hence, they produce a comprehensive range of types of training, although the distinction between them is not always as sharp as the classification may indicate.

Having generated the categorisation, the authors reveal the problems which arise, as mentioned in interviews with enterprises, in trying to move toward a quantitative analysis of 'informal' training. These are (a) the difficulty of creating a demarcation between work and 'work-integrated' training and (b) the prohibitive time and energy input, as perceived by firms, in generating and gathering the information.

Barrett, Alan and Philip J. O'Connell (1998), "Does Training Generally Work? Measuring the Returns to In-Company Training", Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR), Paper No. 1879, London.

Barrett and O'Connell (1998) use a dataset constructed over two points in time to estimate a training/productivity link. The first component of the dataset is a survey of Irish companies conducted in 1993 in which firms were asked for detailed information on their training activities. The second component of the dataset is a follow-up survey of the same companies conducted in 1997; this time the companies were asked for information on, among other things, output, capital stock and workplace practices in 1993 and 1995. About 200 firms provided sufficient information for them to be used in the analysis. Given the way the data had been gathered, the authors were able to test for a relationship between the training input and changes in output and productivity. A finding similar to Black and Lynch (1996) emerges in that training itself is not seen to influence productivity; rather it is the type of training that matters. In the Barrett and O'Connell study, training that was described by the employers as being 'general' in nature (that is, useable elsewhere) increased productivity, but training that the employers classified as 'specific' (that is, not useable elsewhere) had no impact on productivity.

⁹ A summary of this paper can also be found in CEDEFOP (1998), Approaches and Obstacles to the Evaluation of Investment in Continuing Vocational Training: Discussion and Case Studies from Six Member States of the European Union.



2.2 Conclusions

Having presented the papers in a somewhat unstructured way, we now want to draw out the major themes and issues. Some of the studies can be grouped together because they attempt to establish a link between training and productivity using standard statistical techniques. Some have done this indirectly by establishing a link between training and wages and assuming that higher wages are paid when productivity is higher. Some have established the link directly by estimating links between training and productivity, defined in various ways. Other studies have looked at other training effects such as increased job satisfaction and reduced unemployment. All of the studies are very recent, reflecting that this is a new area of research. The reason for this is that, until recently, the datasets upon which the studies are based were not available. To a great extent, the quality of the results obtained are functions of the quality of the data with which the researchers worked.

Although this review includes the word "returns" in the title, it is apparent from the above research that rates of return in the strict economic/financial sense of the word have rarely been estimated. What has been done is to relate training inputs, to the extent that the data allows such inputs to be measured, to training outputs, again in a manner that is dependent on the data available. We have not found many calculations which relate the initial investment in training to the flow of benefits over time, thereby producing an estimate of a rate of return in a manner which is done for investment in capital assets. Any such calculation would be subject to considerable uncertainty. This is partly due to data limitations, but also to the lack of good information on the speed with which the acquired skills depreciate or the extent to which employees change jobs. As the information on returns is so limited, it is not surprising that there is no information on how the size of the return might be related to the size of the training investment. As with many investment activities, it is likely that the returns to training investment start to diminish beyond a certain level. Such information would clearly be of great use in this area, although we appear to be a long way from obtaining it.

One exception to this lack of rate-of-return calculations is the paper by Mincer (1991). He gathers results from a range of studies and, imposing certain assumptions, estimates



a rate of return; for example, if a depreciation rate of 4 percent is assumed, returns ranging between 8.7 and 26 percent are found. However, in discussing whether there is evidence of under-investment in training, Mincer says the following: "..., there is no evidence of under-investment, though it clearly cannot be ruled out, given the wide range of estimates." Hence Mincer, too, appears to say that we do not have what might be considered to be a reliable estimate of returns to training.

While the research in this area may not have produced a reliable measure of the rate of return to training, it has nonetheless produced many interesting insights. In general, training is found to have a positive effect on wages (e.g. Lynch, 1992, and Booth, 1991) and productivity (e.g. Black and Lynch, 1996; Bartel, 1994; and Holzer et al., 1993). In addition, as Bishop (1994) found, the productivity effect is greater than the wage effect, thus making training a profitable activity for firms.

Lynch (1992) also found that while off-the-job training with a previous employer increased wages with a current employer, on-the-job training with a previous employer did not. There are two important implications of this result. First, it is possible that current employers only reward previous off-the-job training because the content of such training is more transparent. If this is so, there is a reduced incentive to undertake on-the-job training for employees who believe they will change jobs at some stage. Second, the fact that current employers reward previously acquired off-the-job training implies that such training raises productivity in the current job. Hence, if this previously acquired training was financed by the previous employer, there is a "spillover" effect from one employer to another. Such an effect was also found by Bishop (1994), and so the possibility exists that there is a reduced incentive for employers to provide training. This, of course, is the familiar issue that if training is general in nature, in the sense of being applicable in other workplaces, employers may require the employees to finance the training, since the employer would not be in a position to appropriate any return on the training investment if the employee were to leave.

Groot et al. (1994a) demonstrate the important point that in estimating the effects of training across a range of individuals, one must be aware that people self-select into training: hence estimates which do not take account of this may over-estimate the



effects of training for some. Ichniowski et al. (1995) draw attention to this fact from the perspective of firms when they discuss why it is that some firms do not introduce training measures, even though such measures appear to have strong productivity effects when viewed across the sample as a whole. Statistical techniques do exist to overcome the difficulties associated with self-selection, but there can be limitations on their usefulness in certain circumstances. When self-selection corrections are not employed, care must be exercised in generalising results.

Black and Lynch (1996) and Barrett and O'Connell (1998) found evidence to suggest that the provision of different types of training matter more for productivity than the provision of training per se. In Barrett and O'Connell, training that is general in nature is shown to be more effective than specific training in raising productivity. Black and Lynch (1996) find that in the non-manufacturing sector, the provision of off-the-job training is what matters.

Other studies reviewed indicated the importance of combining training with other human resource measures in order for the training, and indeed the other human resource measures, to be effective (Ichniowski et al. 1995); clearly, this is an important point to keep in mind when trying to identify and measure returns to training.

While the focus of much of the work is on measuring returns in terms of wage and productivity increases, some of the studies brought attention to other effects of training. For the enterprise, such other important effects may include reduced turnover (von Bardeleben et al., 1995). For the individual, the other effects may include reducing the probability of unemployment (Diederen, 1994), making work more interesting and increasing the possibilities of changing job functions or jobs (von Bardeleben et al., 1996).

The measurement of the effects of certain types of training may yield useful results, especially if there is a specific goal attached to that training, for example, encouraging independent learning under the 'Leittext' as discussed by van der Sanden and Hornman (1995). Generally, the categorisation of training can also assist in return estimation exercises, although problems do remain; for example, it is not always easy in practice to



draw sharp distinctions between training types, or indeed between work and work-integrated training (Grünewald et al., 1997).

Finally, although the issue of how to attach monetary values to dimensions of human resource investment runs through all the work considered here, we have seen how a pragmatic approach can be adopted, in which value ranges are used (van Sandick and Schaap-Neuteboom, 1993). We have also seen the beginning of a more systematic approach through the generation of more formal accounting procedures related to human resources (OECD, 1996).

Drawing together these conclusions we can say the following:

- strict rates of return, like those calculated for physical assets, have rarely been calculated
- training is shown to have a positive effect on wages
- training is shown to have a positive effect on productivity
- there is evidence to suggest that training received from one employer increases productivity and wages with another employer
- selection effects matter in training: i.e. the benefits are higher for those who choose to train compared to those who choose not to train, were they obliged to train.
- different types of training matter for productivity effects, as does the combination of training with other human resource policies
- individuals and firms have objectives for training other than wage and productivity growth

Having reviewed many of the recent, prominent studies in the area and drawn conclusions, in the next section we will present the issues which arise in the estimation of returns to employer-provided training in a more general manner. Once again, our goal is not to present information as an end in itself, but rather to stimulate thought and discussion.



JN 3: Some central issues - an overview and discussion

Having reviewed a range of studies and distilled the conclusions, we now alter our focus. In this section, we will discuss a range of issues which arise in measuring the returns to CVT investments. It should be noted that a number of these issues are closely linked and inter-dependent, and they should be viewed accordingly; nevertheless, we have tried to break them down as far as possible into discrete headings. In order to illustrate points, we will draw on the studies mentioned above and some additional references; however, our interest in this section is on general points and not on the specifics of each study. The headings under which our discussion will proceed are as follows:

- Evaluating CVT returns at the level of the enterprise
- Levels of evaluation
- Types and forms of training
- Types of returns
- Who receives the returns
- Methodologies

3.1 Evaluating CVT returns at the enterprise level

It is useful to consider the issue of CVT evaluation as it occurs at the enterprise level. This provides insights into a number of the general problems associated with evaluating training and gives some indication of what is required from social science researchers.

Although many articles and books have been written on how to evaluate training, many authors conclude that, in practice, firms rarely undertake a systematic evaluation of training (Dougherty, 1992; Mulder, 1995). Dougherty suggests possible reasons for this:

(i) The cost-effectiveness of the training may be so obvious that formal evaluation is unnecessary. Much employer-based training is so obviously cost-effective that it



would be a waste of resources to undertake a formal evaluation. For example, some training results from the adoption of new technology, and is often provided by the vendor of the new technology as part of a package. In this context, it is difficult to isolate the productivity effects of the training from the effects of introducing the new technology in order to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of such training.

(ii) It may be impossible or prohibitively expensive to obtain the data necessary for a formal evaluation of training. The economic evaluation of much employer-based training may not be a practical proposition for a number of reasons. First, it may not be possible to measure the productivity increase of the trainee. Much training is provided for workers who are not directly engaged in production, so any increase in productivity will be difficult to assess. In particular, it is difficult to undertake a convincing cost-effectiveness analysis of training provided for managerial and supervisory staff, which typically accounts for an important part of training. Secondly, it may not be possible to isolate the increase in productivity which can be attributed to training from the increase in productivity which can be attributed to complementary changes in the production process. Thirdly, it may be difficult to isolate the cost of training from the cost of production as skill development is often an inevitable by-product of the production process. And fourthly, even when it is in principle possible to make a formal evaluation of cost-effectiveness, the cost of the evaluation may render the exercise prohibitive (Dougherty, 1992, pp. 551-552).

To the extent that firms do evaluate training, they seem to do so mostly in an informal and incremental way. Grünewald and Moraal (1996) suggest in their case studies a variety of ways to assess the success of training in firms, albeit work-integrated learning only. These are as follows:

- the results of training can be examined and evaluated on the basis of key statistics or indicators, for example, number of complaints, delivery times, meeting delivery specifications, development of costs, illness of employees;
- continuous discussion can be undertaken between personnel department/supervisors and management;
- training results can be checked through giving trainees questionnaires, tests/examinations or through general monitoring;



- in 'quality circles', and other management processes, an implicit evaluation takes place through the process itself;
- testing the quality of products can be regarded as an evaluation instrument;
- client satisfaction is an important success criterion, so contact with clients can be an appropriate instrument.

These different means of assessing the results of work-integrated learning processes are used to varying degrees. Informal procedures dominate, and most enterprises use these to evaluate the success of training, rather than undertaking a strict cost/benefit analysis. Generally, if the objectives of the training have been seen to have been met, then this is viewed as sufficient evidence of a successful implementation of training measures.

While these procedures may be in place, the fact remains that enterprises in general do not rigorously evaluate their training expenditures. This provides an opportunity for researchers, but it also presents a first obstacle. The opportunity relates to the information gap that clearly exists. The obstacle concerns data: without firm level evaluation, it is unlikely that the sort of information needed for a comprehensive research evaluation would be available. Hence, it seems that great advantage could be gained if firms and researchers would collaborate extensively in putting the evaluation of training onto a more systematic basis. The collaboration could occur in generating data, collecting and analysing it. We will return to this theme in our overall conclusions.

3.2 Levels of evaluation

One aspect of measuring the returns to CVT is to identify the level at which the evaluation should take place. This is an important issue when considering what outcomes should be addressed in order to measure the returns to training in future work. Hence, to put some order on this dimension of the overall issue, we present here a categorisation of levels.

In 1959 Kirkpatrick - one of the founding fathers of research on returns to training - developed what is now considered the classic four-level approach to the evaluation of



training, which focused on:

Level 1 - reaction - i.e. did participants adjust to/like it?

Level 2 - *learning* - i.e. did participants learn?

Level 3 - behaviour - i.e. did participants use what they had learnt?

Level 4 - results - i.e. did the training fulfil its stated (or other) objectives?

(Kirkpatrick, 1959).

It should be noted that these levels do not represent mutually exclusive outcomes but rather they are different, and often inter-related, manifestations of the returns to training. For example, measuring level 3 (behaviour) will also provide a fair reflection of level 2 (learning). This is not necessarily the case at level 4 (results), as this model can be viewed as combining two aspects of evaluating training returns: whether the training has been 'effective', i.e. did it meet its objectives, and whether the training has had an 'effect' which may be linked to general objectives of the enterprise or employees rather than to pre-defined objectives specific to the training.

Much of the research into the returns to training to date has focused on the first three levels of evaluation, given the number of data and methodological problems associated with level 4 (results) and the problem of identifying the objectives in order to develop appropriate indicators against which the training can be evaluated. As a result, much of this work has focused on the returns to the individual as an indirect, rather than a direct, indicator of the returns to the enterprise. Within this, research at level 1 (reaction) seems to be the most prevalent area of work (Dougherty, 1992; MacDonald, 1995; Mulder, 1995) within enterprises. Mulder (1995) states that most of the evaluation methods available are aimed only at observing the reaction of participants in training through surveying on the basis of 'happy sheets'. He assumes a lack of methods and techniques for training evaluation beyond level 3, which can be used in practice, and he concludes that few practical instruments are available at the enterprise level to evaluate training returns in terms of overall work behaviour as it benefits the firm, due to the need to evaluate the returns to training in a specific way within different contextual environments. The perceived absence of level 4 (results) evaluation is also illustrated in the title of an article by Shelton and Alliger (1993); "Who's afraid of level 4



evaluation?"

Recent research which has focused on level 4 has done so in terms of direct 'results' for the enterprise (e.g. Brinkerhoff, 1988; Kessels, 1993; Bewyl & Geiter, 1996) on the assumption that the major reason for launching training activities derives from firm-level problems. A number of evaluation models at this fourth level are aimed principally at observations concerning the success of solving organisational problems through training (Kessels, 1993). Many of the studies in Section 2 highlight an increasing emphasis on level 4 evaluation from the enterprise perspective, which also indicates an increasing ability to overcome a number of the data and methodological problems (these are discussed in more detail below).

Nevertheless, level 4 (results) evaluation remains hindered by the lack of an adequate definition of what constitutes training activity and the diffuculty of identifying what are the aims and rationale behind choosing particular types or forms of training as a means to evaluate returns against those aims and choices.¹

3.3 Types and forms of training

The work reviewed in Section 2 has already pointed to the need to differentiate between types and forms of training. Training is a generic term for a number of very different types of activities and also a fluid entity. Bentsson and Würzburg (1992) indicate that the content of training is changing and being provided in a different way; this will clearly have an effect on the way the returns to such training can be measured. What remains unclear, however, is how training can be most usefully differentiated when estimating returns. As indicated by Tuijnman (1992): "continuing education is an elusive idea rather than a well-defined concept."

Various ways of categorising training forms are possible: e.g., on/off the job, formal/informal. As shown in Section 2, Grünewald and Moraal (1997) make a

Further discussion concerning this issue can be found in an article by Sven-Åge Westphalen "Continuing Vocational Training: from statistical necessity to analytical complexity" to be published in issue 51.1 of the Journal of Vocational Education and Training in 1999.



distinction between 'off-the-job' and 'on-the-job' training. Most of the work in this area focuses on 'off-the-job' training; returns to 'on-the-job' training are rarely considered, despite the increasing importance of 'learning by working' in modern societies. Exceptions are the studies of Grünewald and Moraal (1996) and of Ichniowski et al. (1995), reviewed in Section 2, and the CEDEFOP report on the learning effects of work organisation, done in various EU-countries (e.g., the Dutch study: Onstenk and Voncken, 1996). The lack of research into the returns to 'on-the-job'/'learning by doing' relates to the difficulty of making a distinction between working and training.

In addition, training can be distinguished according to its content and aims: e.g. training for sales, training in computer skills, etc. Studies that have employed such a distinction have been able to generate interesting results on the relative impact of different types of training: e.g. Black and Lynch (1997) and Kirkpatrick (1994).

One of the problems associated with distinguishing training on this basis is that, at the level of the enterprise, training objectives are not always clear. In addition, training may have multiple objectives which are not easily ranked. Only when the objectives of training are clearly stated can the type of training which should be evaluated against the objective(s) be identified. While a number of enterprises do formalise their training objectives (e.g. training in new technology, health and safety training, training in quality control, etc.), it is sometimes difficult to determine what the actual goals are, and even whether they are 'real'. It is often the case that investment in training serves only the goal of legitimisation: i.e., investing to show that you are doing something about a problem/issue as it is defined by superiors, by law or by clients.

Defining training activity and identifying and linking it with its or other more general objectives would take us one step closer to identifying the type of return against which the training should be measured and evaluated.



3.4 Types of returns

The studies in this review indicate the difficulties which arise simply in defining returns; measuring those returns is even harder. This is partly due to the lack of training objectives discussed above. As a result, research into the returns to training cannot relate those returns to specific training objectives; instead the training is evaluated against more general objectives. For example, the returns to training may be measured in terms of productivity increases, but the training measure might include health and safety training, the objective of which is not necessarily an increase in productivity. Identifying returns in this way also assumes that the process within the type and form of training has been effective to meet the return criteria. Many of the studies reviewed link only the *incidence* of training, in terms of the volume of training activity undertaken by firms or on the participation rates of employees, with a general return.

In addition, as with most returns, the returns to training can accrue in both 'tangible' and 'intangible' terms, within which the demarcation line is not clear. With regard to tangible returns, a number of studies try to measure the benefits of training at the level of the enterprise in terms of *productivity*. The question arises, however, as to what measure of productivity should be considered: increased profitability, reduced costs, improved quality, reduction of faults, increased customer satisfaction, etc. As mentioned, this also implies that a certain measure of productivity can be affected by a variety of different training activities, and so it may be difficult to associate the precise training activity with its corresponding productivity effect. Kirkpatrick (1994) mentions exceptional situations in which this can be done; for example, increases in sales may be found to be directly related to a sales training program. As Kirkpatrick states, however, establishing a causal relationship between training activities and its effects is usually not possible. In this respect, both the lack of strict definitions in this field and the numerous objectives which training has for the different stakeholders impact greatly upon our ability to establish causal relationships.

For measuring intangible returns, *tangible* indicators have to be generated; this often involves making assumptions which are hard to verify. For example, an enterprise that tries to improve the social and communicative skills of its employees through training



might use the turnover rate of both training participants and non-participants as an approximate measure to investigate this particular effect of the training. However, such a proxy measure does not necessarily indicate whether the training itself has led to the desired or to the opposite 'return'.

The studies reviewed in Section 2 indicate a variety of returns that have been measured for both enterprises and individuals. For enterprises, evaluation tends to concentrate both on productivity and on the performance of participants: for example, Holzer et al. (1993) use a reduction in the scrappage rate; Barrett and O'Connell (1998) use a salesbased measure of output per worker; and Bartel (1994) uses a value-added-based measure of output per worker. Some larger companies, as described in Kirkpatrick (1994), have attempted to take into account direct returns at the organisational level (sales, turnover rates). Other, indirect returns (such as a reduction in recruitment costs) are not so well examined in the empirical studies found. Von Bardeleben et al. (1995) focus on this issue, but their research concerns initial vocational training in the dual system.

For the benefits which accrue to *individuals*, a number of studies measure the wage gains of participants and promotion opportunities as types of returns. Other kinds of studies - more sociologically oriented - in this area identify several types of tangible and intangible returns; some of these have been reviewed in Section 2 of this report. As an example of the non-wage return, one can consider the work of von Bardeleben et al. (1996) in which they look at increased job satisfaction and the increased chances of changing jobs.

To a large extent, the type of returns which are examined are a function of (a) the objective of the evaluation, and (b) the data which is available concerning the training. In addition, there is the issue of 'perspective', i.e. how the returns are appropriated for the different stakeholders.



3.5 Who receives the returns

One of the reasons this review was undertaken is the lack of information concerning to whom the benefits of training accrue: i.e., which perspective is most important when estimating how the benefits of enterprise training are appropriated between the different stakeholders? This issue is important for a number of reasons. If certain actors are in a strong position to appropriate the gains from training, they are also more likely to finance the training. Hence, if it is shown that firms appropriate significant gains, then one can assume that profit-maximising firms will provide such training. However, if firms are unable to appropriate the gains from certain *types* of training, such as training that is general in nature (following the Becker definition), they may fail to provide that type of training. Again, we discuss this issue in a general way, concerning what has arisen from the studies reviewed in Section 2, although we recognise that there are significantly different funding arrangements for enterprise training in different countries, which may enhance the relevance of certain returns from different perspectives.

The review in Section 2 indicates that research has been undertaken on the returns for individuals and for firms. One of the areas where research is particularly underdeveloped is returns to the state,² either in economic or social terms, and to individual sectors of the economy. Documents and literature are available about the potential benefits for the state of encouraging CVT investment, but these tend not to be empirically based (Kath, 1994).

Although no studies which attempted to estimate the benefits to the state of employer-provided training have been found, it is nonetheless of interest to consider here what these benefits might be and whether they can be measured. Possibly the most obvious return to the state is the increased tax revenue that arises from training which enhances productivity. Such productivity yields benefits to both the state and the enterprise if the trained workers remain within that enterprise. An increased number of trained workers

² Perhaps some exceptions can be found in Coopers & Lybrand (1996) and Denys & Aalders (1996), although this work contains many methodological limitations. Whilst not within the scope of this review study, the returns to training the unemployed for the state are more easy to quantify than the returns to training employees by firms, e.g. in terms of employment or unemployment rates. This can be illustrated in the Netherlands by the evaluation research done by NEI into the 'net-effectiveness' of training courses paid for by the Employment Services (de Koning, 1991).



33 39

may also lead to increased foreign investment which may also benefit the state - although not necessarily the *training* enterprise if their workers move.

In addition to providing direct revenue benefits for the state, it can also be argued that training can reduce state expenditure. This can arise, for example, if employer-provided training leads to a reduced incidence of unemployment and, hence, reduced spending on unemployment and social benefits. While such arguments can be used to justify state intervention into the provision of continuing vocational training, the complexity of the issues makes it difficult to identify the way in which the state appropriates its returns to enterprise training.

In addition, the returns to enterprise training organised at the collective (sectoral) level have rarely been considered. This type of training can be termed 'sectoral training policies', paid for by social partners at branch - or sectoral - level as a way to share and mutualise the training costs for enterprises in the branch and to reduce or avoid underinvestment in training by firms (van den Tillaart and Warmerdam, 1995; Denys and Aalders, 1996).

While sectoral training policies differ in the way they are implemented, the aims of the training do not differ from that of policies undertaken by individual firms. In terms of the returns, however, at least two different dimensions can be identified: a) the comparison between individual firms within the sector which implement training and those that do not, and b) the extent of success in avoiding both free-rider behaviour and under-investment in training by enterprises. Concerning a), only one empirical study is known; it considers the implementation of training in three different sectors through case-studies (de Vries and Hövels, 1991). Concerning b), no empirical studies exist, although the social partners seem to find it worthwhile to maintain sectoral training policies and finance them from collective bargaining sources. One of the major reasons that the returns to sectoral training provision have attracted little attention in empirical research seems to be that it occurs in only a few countries (e.g. Netherlands, Belgium, France and Denmark).



-34- 40

Yet, given that the nature of the employment relationship might be changing through an increase in short-term and part-time contracts, where employers might be less concerned with training their existing workforce and employees are more transitory, it is perhaps more likely that the responsibility for continuing training might increasingly fall to the individual or the state (this is already the case in some countries). This trend may also be seen in relation to the growth in the number of small- and medium-sized enterprises, where the provision of training is disproportionately expensive. Such a situation reduces the relevance of considering returns from the individual enterprise perspective and suggests that returns to whole sectors or to a collection of firms of a particular size should be considered, as well as the returns to state funding, collective funds, and individual funding.

In addition, little research has been undertaken to consider the returns to training from a multi-stakeholder perspective as a means to understand more fully how the returns to training are appropriated. From the studies reviewed in Section 2, only one (Bishop, 1994) provides an indication that both the enterprise and the individual appropriate some of the training return.

One of the problems with identifying who appropriates the returns to training is associated with defining what constitutes a return from the different perspectives. To clarify this, we can assume that there are certain returns to training which are mutually beneficial to the individual and the enterprise; for example, research at level 3 (behaviour) tends to focus on the 'adaptability' of training within the workplace (e.g. certain dimensions of this are explored within studies by den Ouden, 1992; Gielen, 1995; Simons, 1992). The ability to utilise and 'adapt' training to the workplace can be a benefit both for the individual and the enterprise; the individual may be able to achieve higher levels of job satisfaction, wages, etc., while the enterprise will gain the 'return' through ensuring that a new or updated skill is gained. To some extent, both the individual and the enterprise will appropriate some of the training 'return'.

However, another dimension of training 'adaptability' is training 'transferability', where the skill gained or updated by the individual can be transferred to another enterprise. In this situation, there is the potential for the individual and the receiving enterprise to



appropriate more of the training 'return' than the enterprise that originally sponsored the training, i.e. the 'spillover' effect discussed earlier.

The different perspectives associated with training evaluation confound a number of other related issues, not least the type of returns which might be evaluated. For example, a study undertaken by Grünewald and Moraal (1996), while concerned with training evaluation at the level of the enterprise, found that different stakeholders within enterprises use different criteria and parameters for evaluating the returns to CVT. Training participants and training staff viewed learning results (level 2) as the most important indicator for training effectiveness; participants also viewed the effect of training on working behaviour (level 3) as an important criterion. For management personnel, however, the results at the firm level (level 4) were the most important definer of training effectiveness. In addition, some of the returns measured can be viewed as secondary to the beneficiaries; for example, the study by von Bardeleben et al. (1996) indicated that, for individuals, higher wages are not always the primary return from training.

However, von Bardeleben et al. (1996) and Grünewald et al. (1997) also indicate an overlap between certain returns and how they are perceived by organisations and individuals. This concerns certain specific, intangible returns: in particular, motivation of employees and better opportunities for workers to do their work properly. The latter type of return seems to be as important to the organisations as it is to individuals. Houman-Sörensen (1997) also indicates areas where goals are increasingly overlapping, such as enhancing productivity, mobility and employment.

Regarding the possible different perspectives within the enterprise, Van der Krogt (1995) has developed a model which considers the integration of work and training types, and within that, the different strategies of the different stakeholders. This work, amongst other things, highlights the need to create frames of reference for the different stakeholders rather than define one objective or return against which to measure training effectiveness.



This has implications for the direction of future work: researchers need to ensure that they are asking the right questions of the appropriate stakeholders concerning the returns to training. In addition, it could be useful to try to develop work along a multi-stakeholder basis in order to establish which objectives underly training activity from different perspectives and how varied types and forms of training lead to different returns and benefit appropriations. This presents a formidable challenge in terms of collecting data and formulating an appropriate methodological approach, a more general problem in this type of work.

3.6 Methodologies

Both quantitative and qualitative research methodologies have been used in this area. In addition, a number of case studies appear to use - sometimes exclusively - quantitative research tools as well (e.g. van Sandick and Schaap-Neuteboom, 1995).

Experimental research (where a group of workers within an enterprise are randomly assigned and trained for the sole purpose of evaluating the effects of training) in this area, while supported strongly in many conceptual studies, is rare. As a result, most studies "are likely to have suffered from variable sampling error and specification error resulting from selection bias, since only participants are investigated" (Tuijnman, 1992, p. 520). Quasi-experimental approaches were used, amongst others, by van Sandick and Schaap-Neuteboom (1995), van der Sanden and Hornman (1995) and some large companies described in Kirkpatrick (1994). Experimental research appears difficult for a number of reasons. Several studies mention the impossibility of establishing a control group in a company setting, due to both practical and ethical problems. In addition, experimental research is expensive and more frequently used in studies concerning the effect of state-provided job-training. One view is that experimental research - however useful it may be in eliminating the influence of 'disturbing variables' (e.g. selection effects) and in estimating the 'true' contribution of training to returns - also has its limitations, as it usually renders little information on the training processes that determine the impact of training.



More common than experimental research are the evaluation studies that compare the 'post'-training situation with the 'pre'-training situation, where employees have been assigned to training in the usual, rather than in a 'random' way. Much of this research simply relates inputs to outputs with little emphasis on the 'process'. Within this the outputs are also 'uncertain' in that the training goals are often unclear. As a result, the wrong type of output may be measured. In only a few of the studies are the goals of training pre-defined in such a way that the training results can be compared to these goals. In particular, surveys that concern employees in more than one organisation often lack information on the goals of training. The study of von Bardeleben et al. (1996) is an exception in this respect, in that it focuses on the balance between costs and benefits of training in a 'qualitative' manner, i.e. regarding the subjective experiences of participants.

The methodologies used are often determined by the type of CVT activity being examined. Studies on work-integrated learning (Grünewald et al., 1997) use case-studies and qualitative techniques (e.g. interviews). Grünewald et al. believe that a qualitative approach for this type of training seems the only appropriate one, given the complexity of the issues and the difficulty of generating quantitative measures. Studies evaluating 'off-the-job' training often use quantitative techniques because this type of training is more clearly defined and hence is more quantifiable.

Many handbooks³ describe the research tools that are considered appropriate for evaluating each of the four levels of Kirkpatrick. In general, the research techniques undertaken in any given situation are partly determined by the level of evaluation being examined. Level 1 tends to be assessed through questionnaires; levels 2 and 3 by tests, questionnaires and interviews. Evaluation at level 4 involves not only the most difficulties, but also the greatest variety in research techniques used: questionnaires and interviews as well as quantitative measures of training outputs, e.g. productivity.

With respect to econometric studies which use large-scale datasets, certain

³ For example, Craig, Robert L. (1996), The ASTD Training and Development Handbook: a guide to human resource development, 4th ed., New York: Mcgraw-Hill; Philips, Jack J. (1997), Handbook of Training Evaluation and Measurement Methods, 3rd ed., Houston: Gulf.



methodological problems should be noted; they refer to self-selection, low response rates in surveys, and bias both in cross-sectional studies (due to unobserved firm characteristics) and in panels (due to measurement error). The studies highlight a number of these issues. Such problems are compounded when undertaking research on a cross-firm, cross-sectoral and cross-national basis. Even at the firm level, different governing strategies and approaches will make comparative work difficult. A number of different factors affect a firm's human resource strategies; such factors and the balance between them will alter according to the nature of that firm. These research problems and potential errors become more pronounced at the macro-economic level.

While issues such as selection effects raise difficulties for quantitative approaches, these difficulties are not entirely insurmountable; the real challenge is to design a research strategy that reduces as far as possible any problems associated with the data or their analysis. Since low response rates are a problem which plagues work in this area, it is very important that efforts be made to ensure the highest possible response rate. The use of personal interviews rather than mail- or phone-based questioning usually leads to a higher response rate. Such an approach is also more expensive, so a trade-off must bemade. It can also be helpful for researchers to enlist the support of groups such as trade associations in an effort to generate higher response rates.

With regard to the comparability of data across firms and across countries, careful initial planning is again required. One way to enhance comparability is to study similar firms; however, a trade-off must again be made because the more limited the group of firms being studied, the harder it is to generalise from the results. For this reason, it is preferable to ensure that the data collected across firms is as comparable as possible. As all firms collect data on profit, sales, etc., as part of usual business practice, this kind of information can be used, as it is by Barrett and O'Connell (1998) and Black and Lynch (1997). But it should also be possible to ask firms to collect information on issues such as staff turnover, which are again comparable. As with the low response rate issue, the challenge for the researcher is to come up with innovative ways of overcoming obstacles.



Finally, on the issues of self-selection and cross-sectional bias, some of the studies reviewed indicate how these difficulties can be overcome through the use of techniques of first-differencing and selection-correction. As Huselid and Becker (1996) point out, other problems can arise when efforts are made to address one econometric difficulty. But again, we would argue that this does not mean that efforts should stop; instead, greater efforts should be made to advance knowledge. The solution to some econometric difficulties can sometimes be found in the data-collection process; solutions to other difficulties require advances in technique. In the meantime, the existing tools provide the best means available to us and they should be used with care and honesty, in the sense that result write-ups should advise caution when there are reasons to believe that econometric results might be contaminated in some way.

It is clear, therefore, that different types of CVT and different levels of evaluation as well as the different 'return' perspectives have a significant influence on the method employed. In addition to this, the methodological approach is also influenced by the data which is available or can be collected.



SECTION 4: Conclusions and further work

4.1 Conclusions

The following quote from an education and training manager of a large company is cited in Kirkpatrick (1994): "We know that training pays off. Never doubt that. The dollar return is there, and it is high." To a great extent, the central issue of this review is whether or not there is hard scientific evidence on this point and how additional evidence can be generated. It is true that many of the studies reviewed found positive effects of training. However, very few of the studies have linked the benefits back to costs in a way that allows us to think in terms of a rate of return. Hence, the question still remains: at the 'margin', should business be spending an extra ECU on training, or on physical capital, marketing, etc.?

It can be concluded from our review that the amount of empirical research concerned with estimating the returns to CVT is rather sparse and underdeveloped, relative to other areas of investigation. Insofar as studies at level 4 (results) have occurred, their focus has been on individuals and enterprises, rather than on the state or sectors/branches. Within this, very few studies which try to apportion returns across the stakeholders have been identified. Furthermore it can be stated that almost all studies concentrate on 'formal' forms of training, although it is informal training which is rapidly growing within firms.

Within this latter issue is the problem of identifying what the original goals of the training were in order to establish a reliable return indicator. Many of the studies have linked the incidence of training to a certain return indicator which may be inappropriate: while it may show that the training had a positive 'effect', it may neglect the issue of whether the type and form of training was an 'effective' way to meet specific goals. Identifying appropriate return indicators is also complicated by the fact that there are tangible and intangible returns to training.



In addition, it seems that various actors have different criteria for returns and evaluate those returns in a different way; for example, while an employee might see training as being transferable, an employer might see the same training as likely to generate a spillover effect. This creates a number of problems in assessing the returns with respect to the way in which the benefits are appropriated.

A final conclusion can be drawn in that the findings of the existing studies in this area are very hard to compare with each other due to the diverse nature of the work. Some of them are conducted within firms, while others are conducted across firms; some are conducted by enterprise staff-members, others by universities or research institutes with rather different points of view on training. Furthermore, some of the studies are of a purely qualitative character; others encompass qualitative and quantitative research, considering more intangible and/or subjective aspects within big-scale surveys, be it cross-sectional and/or longitudinal on a cohort-basis.

It is somewhat utopian to think that a single definitive number can be produced regarding the returns to continuing training within enterprises for the different stakeholders, although this does not undermine the need for further work. As Kirkpatrick states: "Be satisfied with evidence if proof is not possible" (Kirkpatrick, 1994, p. 68). The work reviewed does indicate what might be achieved, at least from the enterprise perspective. For example, the work that shows higher benefits flowing from training when it is used in conjunction with other human resource policies (Ichniowski et al. 1995) provides an insight of practical use. In thinking about what might be done next, we can usefully ask the question, what would business/policy-makers/individuals like to know that (a) we currently do not know and (b) we might, as researchers, be able to answer using existing techniques.

From the discussion in Section 3, there are certain issues which need to be considered in formulating further work in measuring the returns to enterprise CVT, these include:

(i) The effects of training which can be viewed as occurring in an immediate fashion, such as through participant's reactions, or in a more distant way, such as through changed behaviour or increased productivity. The issue has to be addressed of



what level of evaluation is most useful, given the very different reasons for which enterprises implement training, and whether level 4 evaluation should be supplemented in a way that provides a greater insight into the training process and its effectiveness, as well as the end results.

- (ii) The different types and forms of training (formal/informal, specific/general, etc.), especially given that the boundaries of work and learning might be blurring. Some of the studies reviewed in Section 2 indicate that work is progressing in this area: e.g. the findings of both Black and Lynch (1996) and Barrett and O'Connell (1998) show that productivity is affected differently according to the type of training pursued, rather than the overall provision of training per se.
- (iii) The types of returns and how these relate to training objectives or other more general objectives. Within this is a need to generate measures of intangible as well as tangible returns; for example, for individuals we have noted that increased job satisfaction may be more important than the wage effects of training. It is therefore important to generate measures of these types of intangible returns.
- (iv) The training beneficiaries individuals/firms/sector/state and the way in which the benefits are appropriated between the stakeholders. We know from the discussion above that work is particularly underdeveloped concerning the state, for example. Inherent to the appropriation of benefits is the perspective from which returns are measured, given that the different stakeholders may have different criteria for what constitutes a return, for example, training transferability from the individual perspective versus the 'spillover' effect for enterprises. On the other hand, for certain returns there may be agreement as to what constitutes a mutual benefit.
- (v) The different methodologies and research disciplines (qualitative/quantitative, economic/sociological, etc.). Inherent to this point is the availability of data from enterprises or the ability to generate the necessary data.

Whether some of these issues should be addressed independently - as subsidiary questions to the overall issue of evaluating work on the returns to continuing training in enterprises - or treated within a comprehensive framework is partly dependent on how work should progress. To a large extent, there is a trade-off concerning what can be achieved in the short and the long term.



4.2 Further work

In the short term, a number of benefits could be gained by investigating certain subsidiary questions. Some of these have been addressed in the studies discussed above, but the work remains fragmentary and could be supplemented. Among the questions which could be addressed are the following:

- Why do enterprises implement training?
- What types of training are most useful and for whom? For example, should companies bother providing training of a general nature, or should they restrict their efforts to training that is specific to their needs?
- How does the effectiveness of training depend on the implementation of other human resource strategies?
- Does the provision of training have an impact on productivity through its effect on other variables? For example, do workers who receive training remain with the firm for longer periods?
- Reversing the above item, are trained workers more likely to leave? In particular, is
 the theoretical prediction that workers who receive general training are more likely to
 leave seen in real life? And if such workers do leave, what does this imply about the
 returns to training provision for the firm?
- Does training received elsewhere raise productivity on the current job?

In addition, as a general recommendation, more thought should be given to methodological issues, for example, the suitability of qualitative and quantitative research and whether they can be used in a complementary way, the definitions of training and 'returns' and other such issues, which are important in designing research.

In the longer term, a more coherent approach could be developed alongside other advancements in evaluating enterprise training investment, such as Human Resource Accounting. In addition, the development of a more comprehensive stakeholder-based approach and combining expertise from a number of different disciplines and research methodologies could advance future work.



One example of such a project could be a collaborative exercise on CVT evaluation between the research and business communities. Given that there is a lack of formal evaluation of training undertaken at enterprise level, this clearly could yield mutual To be effective, such a collaborative exercise would benefits for both groups. commence with research design and would continue through data collection, analysis and presentation. Researchers could assist companies by identifying the information which they should be gathering and subsequently using to evaluate CVT investments. To be successful, the research/business partnership would need to exist over a period of time and not just when the researchers arrive to conduct a one-off interview. Ideally, the researchers' involvement in the training evaluation should begin before a training investment is undertaken. In this way, the researcher can contribute to the establishment of baseline indicators such as output per worker, amongst others. Once the training is completed, the baseline indicators could then be used to provide some insights into the returns to the training investment. In this way, the analytical talents and academic interests of the researchers are combined with the information needs of the enterprise.

The objective of this review has been to outline the issues involved in measuring the benefits of employer-provided training and to stimulate thought and discussion on how research in this area might proceed. It is clear that there are many difficulties in approaching this topic and so there may be a reluctance to confront the issues. However, we would argue that advances in our knowledge in this area are crucial if optimal resource allocations are to be made in the area of training and human capital development generally.



SECTION 5: References

Ashton, D., and F. Green (1996), Education, Training and the Global Economy, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Bagnall, R. (1994), "Performance indicators and outcomes as measures of educational quality: a cautionary critique", *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 19-32.

Barrett, Alan and Philip J. O'Connell (1998), "Does Training Generally Work: The Returns to In-Company Training", Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR) Paper No. 1879, London.

Bartel, A. (1994), "Productivity Gains from the Implementation of Employee Training Programs", *Industrial Relations*, Vol. 33, No. 4, pp. 411-425.

Becker, G. (1975), Human Capital, New York: Columbia University Press.

Beicht, U., and E.M. Krekel (1996), "Individuelle Kosten und individueller Nutzen der beruflichen Weiterbildung", in J. Münch (ed.), Ökonomie betrieblicher Bildungsarbeit: Qualität - Kosten - Evaluierung - Finanzierung, pp. 175-194, Berlin: Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung.

Bengtsson, J., and G. Wurzburg. (1992), "Effectiveness research: merely interesting or actually relevant?", *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol. 17, pp. 527-535.

Bergenhenegouwen, G. J., and M.E. Voorthuis (1995), "Monitoring: het vaststellen van opleidingseffecten", in M. Mulder and W.S. de Grave (eds.), Ontwikkelingen in branche- en bedrijfsopleidingen, Utrecht: Lemma.

Beywl, W., and Chr. Geiter, (1996), Evaluation - Controlling - Qualitätsmanagement in der betriebliche Weiterbildung, Bielefeld: Bertelsmann.

Bishop, John H. (1994a), *The Incidence and Payoff to Employer Training*, Working Paper 94-17, Ithaca: Center for Advanced Human Resource Studies.

Bishop, John H. (1994b), "The Impact of Previous Training on Productivity and Wages", in Lisa Lynch (ed.), *Training and the Private Sector: International Comparisons*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Bishop, John H. (1995), Expertise and Excellence, Working Paper 95-13, Ithaca: Center for Advanced Human Resource Studies.

Black, Sandra and Lisa Lynch (1997), "How to Compete: The Impact of Workplace Practices and Information Technology on Productivity", National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 6120, Cambridge, Massachusetts.



<u>5</u>2

Black, Sandra and Lisa Lynch (1996), "Human Capital Investments and Productivity", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 86, No. 2, pp. 263-267.

Booth, Alison L. (1991), "Job-Related Formal Training: Who Receives it and What is it Worth?", Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 53, No. 3, pp. 281-294.

Bosman, F., and G. Walpot (1995), "Integrale evaluatie van een bedrijfsopleiding", in M. Mulder and W.S. de Grave (eds.), *Ontwikkelingen in branche- en bedrijfsopleidingen*, Utrecht: Lemma.

Brinkerhoff, R.O. (1988), Achieving results from training, San Francisco: Jossey Bass.

Bureau of Labor Statistics (1995), Employer provided training, Washington D.C.: BLS.

Cafarella, R.S., and J.M. O'Donnell (1991), "Judging the quality of work-related, self-directed learning", *Adult Education Quarterly*, Vol. 42, pp. 17-29.

CEDEFOP (1998), Approaches and Obstacles to the Evaluation of Investment in Continuing Vocational Training: Discussion and Case Studies from Six Member States of the European Union, Thessaloniki: CEDEFOP.

Coopers & Lybrand (1996), Economic dimensions of education and training in the member states of the European Union, European Commission (document).

Craig, Robert L. (1996), The ASTD Training and Development Handbook: a guide to human resource development, 4th ed., New York: McGraw-Hill.

De Koning, J. (1991), Evaluatie en arbeidsvoorziening (The state of the art), Rijswijk: CBA.

De Koning, J., and A. Gelderblom (1992), "Company Training: Volume, Underinvestment and Return", a paper presented to the fourth annual conference of the European Association of Labour Economists, University of Warwick.

Den Ouden, M., Transfer na bedrijfsopleidingen. Een veldonderzoek naar de rol van voornemens, sociale norm, beheersing en sociale steun bij opleidingstransfer, Amsterdam: Thesis.

Denys, J., and M. Aalders (1996), "Sectoraal opleidingsbeleid in Nederland en Belgie", *Tijdschrift voor Arbeidsvraagstukken*, Vol. 12, No. 3, pp. 273 - 281.

De Vries, B. and B Hövels (1991), Afgesproken! Onderzoek effectiviteit CAO-afspraken over scholing, Den Haag: Ministerie van Economische Zaken.

Diederen, J. (1994), Opleidingsniveau en beroepsloopbaan. Over de effecten van initiële opleiding en additionele scholing op de beroepsloopbaan van lager opgeleiden, Nijmegen: ITS.

Dougherty, Chr. (1992), "Evaluation of the economic and labour market effects of



continuing education and training: practice and policy issues", *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol. 17, pp. 549-564.

Evers, G., and T. van Neerven (1992), "Het meten van opleidingsrendementen: een case-studie bij Saab-Scania Zweden", in R. van Ommeren, J. Peters, P. Schramade and J. Thijssen (eds.), Gids voor de opleidingspraktijk (7.41), Houten/Deurne: Bohn Stafleu Van Loghum.

Field, J., and R. Taylor, (1995), "The funding and organisation of adult continuing education research in Britain: trends and aspects", *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 247-260.

Forrester, K., J. Payne, and K. Ward, (1995), "Lifelong education and the workplace: a critical analysis", *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, Vol. 14, No. 4, pp. 292-305.

Forrester, K., J. James, and C. Thorne (1996), "Vocational education and training in the UK retail sector", in H.S. Olesen (ed.), *Adult Education and the Labour Market II*, Roskilde: Adult Education Research Group, University of Roskilde.

Gielen, E. (1995), Transfer of Training in a Corporate Setting, Enschede: University of Twente (diss.).

Groot, Wim, Joop Hartog and Hessel Oosterbeek (1994a), "Returns to Within Company Schooling of Employees: The Case of the Netherlands", in Lisa Lynch (ed.), *Training and the Private Sector: International Comparisons*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Groot, Wim, Joop Hartog and Hessel Oosterbeek (1994b), "Costs and Revenues of Investment in Enterprise-Related Schooling", Oxford Economic Papers, Vol. 46, No. 4, pp 658-675.

Groot, Wim (1995), "Type Specific Returns to Enterprise-Related Training", *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 14, No. 4, pp 323-333.

Groot, W. (1996), "Economische analyse van bedrijfsopleiding", in B. Hövels, M. van Dyck, W. Nijhof and F. van Wieringen (eds.), Jaarboek 1995 van het Max Goote Kenniscentrum, 's-Gravenhage: VUGA.

Grubb, W.N. (1995), Evaluating Job Training Programs in the United States: Evidence and Explanations, Berkeley: National Center for Research in Vocational Education.

Grünewald, U., and D. Moraal (1995), Kosten der betrieblichen Weiterbildung in Deutschland. Ergebnisse und kritische Anmerkungen, Berlin/Bonn: Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung.

Grünewald, U., and D. Moraal (1996), Betriebliche Weiterbildung in Deutschland. Gesamtbericht. Ergebnisse aus drei empirischen Erhebungsstufen einer Unternehmensbefragung im Rahmen des EG-Aktionsprogramms FORCE, Bielefeld:



Bertelsmann.

Grünewald, U., D. Moraal, D. Gnahs, F. Draus and R. Weiß (1997), Abschlußbericht zum BMBF-Projekt Formen der "weichen Bildung" (draft version).

Holzer, H., R. Block, M. Cheatham, and J. Knott (1993), "Are Training Subsidies for Firms Effective? The Michigan Experience", *Industrial and Labour Relations Review*, Vol. 46, No. 4, pp. 625-636.

Hotchkiss, L. (1993), "Effect of training, occupation and training-occupation match on wages", *Journal of Human Resources*, Vol. 28, No. 3, pp. 482-496.

Houman-Sörensen, J. (1997), Contribution to the Leonardo-project Financing Models for CVT and FTU, Berlin, paper.

Huselid, Mark A. and Brian E. Becker (1996), "Methodological Issues in Cross-Sectional and Panel Estimates of the Human Resource-Firm Performance Link", *Industrial Relations*, Vol. 35, No. 3, pp. 400-422.

Ichniowski, Casey, Kathryn Shaw and Giovanna Prennushi (1995), "The Effects of Human Resource Management Practices on Productivity", National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 5333, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Kalleberg, A.L. (1992), "Job training in Norway: organizational and individual differences", *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol.17, pp. 565-580.

Kath, F. (1994), "Kosten-Nutzen-Analyse", in H. Schmidt, G. Cramer and W. Wittwer (eds.), *Ausbilder-Handbuch*, (Kapitel 8.3), Köln.

Kau, W. (1997), "Kosten und Nutzen der beruflichen Qualifizierung auf der mikroökonomischen Ebene", Report on Vocational Training Research and Development in Europe, Thessaloniki: CEDEFOP.

Kau, W. (1997), "Ausbildung in Großbetrieben: Gewinn oder Belastung?", in K. Berger, U. Beicht, H. Herget and E.M. Krekel (eds.), Berufsperspectiven mit Lehre? Wert und Zukunft dualer Berufsausbildung - Beiträge aus Berufsbildungswissenschaft und -pr, pp. 333-43, Bielefeld: Bertelsmann.

Kessels, J. (1993), Towards Design Standards for Curriculum Consistency in Corporate Education, Terschuur (diss.).

Kirkpatrick, D.L. (1959), "Techniques for evaluating training programs", *Journal of ASTD*, Vol. 13, No. 11, pp. 3-9.

Kirkpatrick, D.L. (1994), Evaluating training programs. The Four Levels, San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler.

KPMG-BEA (1997), Kennis in balans (Knowledge in balance), Amsterdam: Max Goote Kenniscentrum.



Krekel, E. (1997), Kosten und Nutzen der beruflichen Aus- und Weiterbildung,: Berlin, Bonn: Bundesinstitut für Berufsbildung.

Van der Krogt, F. (1995), Leren in netwerken, Utrecht: Lemma.

Lazear, Edward (1979), "Why is there Mandatory Retirement", *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 87, No. 6, pp. 1261-1284.

Lynch, Lisa (1992), "Private-Sector Training and the Earnings of Young Workers", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 82, No. 1, pp. 299-312.

Lynch, Lisa and Sandra Black (1995), "Beyond the Incidence of Training: Evidence from a National Employers Survey", National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 5231, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

MacDonald, C., J. Bradley Cousins, A. J. Bailetti, and A.H. Rahman (1996), "Toward meaningful evaluation of manager training in technology-based companies", in M. Mulder (ed.), *Training in business and industry*. Selected Research Papers 1995, Enschede: University of Twente.

Medoff, J. and K. Abraham (1981), "Are Those Paid More Really More Productive? The Case of Experience", *Journal of Human Resources*, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 186-216.

Mincer, Jacob (1991), "Job Training: Costs, Returns and Wage Profiles", in Stern, David and Jozef M. M. Ritzen (eds.), Market Failure in Training? New Economic Analysis and Evidence on Training of Adult Employees, Berlin: Springer-Verlag.

Mulder, M. (1995,). "Evaluatie, kosten en effectiviteit van opleidingen", in M. Mulder and W.S. de Grave (eds.), Ontwikkelingen in branche- en bedrijfsopleidingen, Utrecht: Lemma.

Onstenk, J., and E. Voncken (1996), The role of the company in generating skills: the learning effects of work organisation, The Netherlands, CEDEFOP document, Luxembourg: Office for official publications of the European Communities.

OECD (1996), Measuring What People Know: Human Capital Accounting for the Knowledge Economy, Paris: OECD.

Organisatie voor Strategisch Arbeidsmarktonderzoek (1994), Rendement van opleiding en allocatie van arbeid, Leiden: DOP.

Organisatie voor Strategisch Arbeidsmarktonderzoek (1996), Soepel geregeld. Instituties en efficientie van de arbeidsmarkt, Den Haag: OSA.

Ottersten, Eugenia Kazamaki, Thomas Lindh and Erik Mellander (1996), "Cost and Productivity Effects of Firm Financed Training", The Industrial Institute for Economic and Social Research Working Paper No. 455, Uppsala, Sweden.



Ottersten, Eugenia Kazamaki, Thomas Lindh and Erik Mellander (1997), "Evaluating Firm Training Effects on Performance and Labor Demand", mimeo.

Phillips, J.J. (ed.) (1994), In action: measuring return on investment, Alexandria: ASTD.

Philips, Jack J. (1997), Handbook of Training Evaluation and Measurement Methods, 3rd ed., Houston: Gulf.

Psacharopoulos, G., and E. Velez (1992), "Does training pay, independent of education? Some evidence from Columbia", *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol. 17, pp. 581-591.

Rist, R.C., and K. Joyce (1995) "Qualitative research and implementation evaluation: a path to organizational learning", *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol. 23, No.2, pp. 127-136.

Schmidt, F.L., and J.E. Hunter (1983), "Individual differences in productivity. An empirical test of estimates derived from studies of selection procedure utility", *Journal of Applied Psychology*, Vol. 68, pp. 407-414.

Shelton, S. and G. Alliger (1993), "Who's afraid of level 4 evaluation? A practical approach", *Training & Development*, Vol. 47, No. 6, pp. 43-46.

Simons, P.R.J. (1992), "De toepassing van transferbevorderende maatregelen in arbeidsorganisaties", *Tijdschrift voor Onderwijsresearch*, Vol.17, No. 1, pp. 28-39.

Stake, R. (1973), "The countenance of educational evaluation", in B. Worthen and J. Sanders (eds.), *Educational Evaluation*, Worthington: Jone.

Stevens, D. W., and J. Shi (1996), New Perspectives on Documenting Employment and Earnings Outcomes in Vocational Education, Berkeley: National Center for Research in Vocational Education.

Thijssen, J. (1992), "Effectevaluatie binnen bedrijfsopleidingen", in R. van Ommeren, J. Peters, P. Schramade and J. Thijssen (eds.), Gids voor de opleidingspraktijk (7.40), Houten/Deurne: Bohn Stafleu Van Loghum.

Tuijnman, A.C. (1992a), "Effectiveness research into continuing education. Introduction", *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol. 17, pp. 519-525.

Tuijnman, A.C. (1992b), "Continuing education, training, and lifelong chances: a linear structural relations analysis, *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol. 17, pp. 593-608.

Van den Tillaart, H. and J. Warmerdam (1995), Training in economic sectors in the Netherlands. Opportunities and limitations of a sector approach to research and policy in the field of continuous vocational training, Nijmegen: ITS.



Van der Sanden, J.M.M., and G.E.J.M. Hornman (1995), "Zelfstandig leren op de werkplek met behulp van de Leittextmethode", in M. Mulder and W.S. de Grave (eds.), Ontwikkelingen in branche- en bedrijfsopleidingen, Utrecht: Lemma.

Van Duren, J. and L. Franso (1990), "Opleidingsrendement: consequenties voor de praktijk", in R. van Ommeren, J. Peters, P. Schramade and J. Thijssen (eds.), Gids voor de opleidingspraktijk (7.45), Houten/Deurne: Bohn Stafleu Van Loghum.

Van Leeuwen, S. and J. Dronkers (1992), "Effects of continuing education: a study on adult education, social inequality, and labour market position", *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol. 17, pp. 609-624.

Van Sandick, A.S., and A.M. Schaap-Neuteboom (1993), Het rendement van een bedrijfsopleidung: Een instrument voor het bepalen van het financiële rendement van trainingen, Groningen: RUG.

Van Sandick, A.S., and A.M. Schaap-Neuteboom (1995), Het rendement van een bedrijfsopleiding, Groningen (diss.).

Von Bardeleben, R., U. Beicht and K. Fehér (1995), "Betrachtung des Nutzens betrieblicher Ausbildung", in U. Beicht, R. von Bardeleben and K. Fehér (eds.), Betriebliche Kosten und Nutzen der Ausbildung. Ergebnisse aus Industrie, Handel und Handwerk, pp. 104-117, Bielefeld: Bertelsmann.

Von Bardeleben, R., U. Beicht, H. Herget, and E.M. Krekel (1996), *Individuelle Kosten und Individueller Nutzen beruflicher Weiterbildung*, Bielefeld: Bertelsmann.

Von Bardeleben, R., and U. Beicht. (1996), "'Investitionen in die Zukunft' - eine Bildungsökonomische Betrachtung der Berufsausbildung aus betrieblicher Sicht", in R. von Bardeleben (ed.) et al., Kosten und Nutzen beruflicher Bildung (Zeitschrift für Berufs- und Wirtschaftspädagogik: Beiheft, 12), pp. 22-44, Stuttgart: Steiner.

Westphalen, Sven-Åge (to be published in 1999), "Continuing Vocational Training: from statistical necessity to analytical complexity", *Journal of Vocational Education and Training*, Issue 51.1.

Wognum, A.A.M. (1995), "Effectiviteitsbepaling en opleidingsbeleidsvorming van bedrijfsopleidingen", in M. Mulder and W.S. de Grave (eds.), Ontwikkelingen in branche- en bedrijfsopleidingen, Utrecht: Lemma.



Exploring the returns to continuing vocational training in enterprises A review of research within and outside of the European Union

Dr Alan Barrett Economic and Social Research Institute, Dublin, Ireland

Prof Dr Ben Hövels, Drs Paul den Boer and Drs Geert Kraayvanger Instituut voor Toegepaste Sociale Wetenschappen, Nijmegen, the Netherlands

CEDEFOP panorama

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities

1998 — 53 pp. — 21.0 x 29.7 cm

ISBN 92-828-4450-1

Free of charge — 5083 EN —



Venta • Salg • Verkauf • Πωλήσεις • Sales • Vente • Vendita • Verkoop • Venda • Myynti • Försäljning BELGIQUE/BELGIË NEDERLAND CYPRUS INDIA Jean De Lannoy Cyprus Chamber of Commerce SDU Servicecentrum Ultgevers FBIC India Avenue du Roi 202/Koningslaan 202 B-1190 Bruxelles/Brussel Tél. (32-2) 538 43 08 Fax (32-2) 538 08 41 EBIC India 3rd Floor, Y. B. Chavan Centre Gen. J. Bhosale Marg. 400 021 Mumbai Tel. (91-22) 282 60 64 Fax (91-22) 285 45 64 E-mail: ebic @giasbm01.vsnl.net.in URL: http://www.ebicindia.com Christoffel Plantijnstraat 2 and Industry PO Box 1455 CY-1509 Nicosia Tel. (357-2) 66 95 00 Fax (357-2) 66 10 44 E-mail: info@cccl.org.cy Christoffel Plantijnstraal Postbus 20014 2500 EA Den Haag Tel. (31-70) 378 98 80 Fax (31-70) 378 97 83 E-mail: sdu@sdu.nl URL: http://www.sdu.nl E-mail: jean.de.lannoy@infoboard.be URL: http://www.jean-de-lannoy.be La librairie européenne/De Europese EESTI Boekhandel Rue de la Loi 244/Wetstraat 244 B-1040 Bruxelles/Brussel Tél. (32-2) 295 26 39 Fax (32-2) 735 08 60 E-mail: mail@ilbeurop.be URL: http://www.libeurop.be ÖSTERREICH Eesti Kaubandus-Tööstuakoda (Estonian Chamber of Commerce and Industry) ISRAÊL Manz'sche Verlags- und Universitätsbuchhandlung GmbH **ROY International** Toom-Kooli 17 PO Box 13056 61130 Tel Aviv Tel. (972-3) 546 14 23 Fax (972-3) 546 14 42 E-mall: royil@netvision.net.il Toom-Kooli 17 EE-0001 Tallinn Tel. (372) 646 02 44 Fax (372) 646 02 45 E-mail: einto@koda.ee URL: http://www.koda.ee Kohlmarkt 16 Konimarkt 16 A-1014 Wien Tel. (43-1) 53 16 11 00 Fax (43-1) 53 16 11 67 E-Mail: bestellen@manz.co.at URL: http://www.austria.EU.net:81/manz Moniteur beige/Beiglsch Staatsblad Rue de Louvain 40-42/Leuvenseweg 40-42 B-1000 Bruxelles/Brussel Tél. (32-2) 552 22 11 Fax (32-2) 511 01 84 Sub-agent for the Palestinian Authority: MAGYARORSZÁG Index Information Services Euro Info Service Europa Not Service
Europa Haz
Margitsziget
PO Box 475
H-1396 Budapest 62
Tel. (36-1) 350 80 25
Fax (36-1) 350 90 32
E-mail: euroinfo@mail.matav.hu
URL: http://www.euroinfo.hu/index.htm PO Box 19502 Distribuidora de Livros Bertrand Ld.º Jerusalem Tel. (972-2) 627 16 34 Fax (972-2) 627 12 19 DANMARK Grupo Bertrand, SA Rua das Terras dos Vales, 4-A Apartado 60037 P-2700 Amadora Tel. (351-2) 495 90 50 Fax (351-2) 496 02 55 J. H. Schultz Information A/S Herstedvang 10-12 DK-2620 Albertslund Tlf. (45) 43 63 23 00 Fax (45) 43 63 19 69 E-maii: schultz@schultz.dk URL: http://www.schultz.dk JAPAN PSI-Japan PSI-apan Asahl Sanbancho Plaza #206 7-1 Sanbancho, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 102 Tel. (81-3) 32 34 69 21 Fax (81-3) 32 34 69 15 E-mail: books@psi-japan.co.jp URL: http://www.psi-japan.com Imprensa Nacional-Casa da Moeda, EP Rua Marquès Sá da Bandeira, 16-A P-1050 Lisboa Codex Tel. (351-1) 353 03 99 E-mail: del.incm@mail.telepac.pt URL: http://www.incm.pt MALTA DEUTSCHLAND Miller Distributors Ltd Malta International Airport PO Box 25 Bundesanzeiger Verlag GmbH Vertriebsabteilung Amsterdamer Straße 192 D-50735 Köln FO Box 25 Luqa LQA 05 Tel. (356) 66 44 88 Fax (356) 67 67 99 E-mail: gwirth @ usa.net D-30735 KOIN
Tel. (49-221) 97 66 80
Fax (49-221) 97 66 82 78
E-Mail: vertrieb@bundesanzeiger.de
URL: http://www.bundesanzeiger.de MALAYSIA SUOMI/FINLAND EBIC Malaysia Akateeminen Kirjakauppa/Akademiska Bokhandein Level 7, Wisma Hong Leong 18 Jalan Perak 50450 Kuala Lumpur Tel. (60-3) 262 62 98 Fax (60-3) 262 61 98 E-mail: ebic-kl @ mol.net.my POLSKA Keskuskatu 1/Centralgatan 1 Ars Polona **ΕΛΛΑΔΑ/GREECE** PI /PR 128 Krakowskie Przedmiescie 7 Skr. pocztowa 1001 PL-00-950 Warszawa Tel. (48-22) 826 12 01 Fax (48-22) 826 62 40 E-mail: ars_pol@bevy.hsn.com.pl PL/PB 128 FIN-00101 Helsinki/Helsingfors P./tin (358-9) 121 44 18 F./tax (358-9) 121 44 35 Sāhkōposti: akatilaus @stockmann.fi URL: http://www.akateeminen.com G. C. Eleftheroudakis SA International Bookstore Panepistimiou 17 GR-10564 Athina Tel. (30-1) 331 41 80/1/2/3/4/5 Fax (30-1) 323 98 21 E-mail: elebooks@netor.gr PHILIPPINES **EBIC Philippines** SVERIGE 19th Floor, PS Bank Tower
Sen. Gil J. Puyat Ave. cor. Tindalo St.
Makati City
Metro Manilla
Tel. (63-2) 759 66 60
Fax (63-2) 759 68 90
E-mail: ecocom@globe.com.ph
URL: http://www.eccp.com ROMÂNIA **BTJ AB** Euromedia Traktorvågen 11 S-221 82 Lund Tfn. (46-46) 18 00 00 Fax (46-46) 30 79 47 E-post: btjeu-pub@btj.se URL: http://www.btj.se Str. G-ral Berthelot Nr 41 RO-70749 Bucuresti Tel. (40-1) 315 44 03 Fax (40-1) 315 44 03 **ESPAÑA** Boletín Oficial del Estado Trafalgar, 27
E-28071 Madrid
Tel. (34) 915 38 21 11 (Libros)/
913 84 17 15 (Suscripciones)
Fax (34) 915 38 21 21 (Libros)/
913 84 17 14 (Suscripciones)
E-mail: clientes @com.boe.es SLOVAKIA Centrum VTI SR RUSSIA **UNITED KINGDOM** Nám. Slobody, 19 SK-81223 Bratislava Tel. (421-7) 531 83 64 Fax (421-7) 531 83 64 CCEC The Stationery Office Ltd International Sales Agency 51 Nine Elms Lane London SW8 5DR Tel. (44-171) 873 90 90 Fax (44-171) 873 84 63 URL: http://www.boe.es 60-letiya Oktyabrya Av. 9 117312 Moscow Tel. (70-95) 135 52 27 Fax (70-95) 135 52 27 Mundi Prensa Libros, SA Castelló, 37
E-28001 Madrid
Tel. (34) 914 36 37 00
Fax (34) 915 75 39 98
E-mail: libreria @mundiprensa.es
URL: http://www.mundiprensa.com E-mail: europ@tbbl.sltk.stuba.sk URL: http://www.sltk.stuba.sk E-mail: ipaenquiries@theso.co.uk
URL: http://www.the-stationery-office.co.uk SLOVENIA SOUTH AFRICA Gospodarski Vestnik Safto Oberpolarista vestina Dunajska cesta 5 SLO-1000 Ljubljana Tel. (386) 611 33 03 54 Fax (386) 611 33 91 28 E-mail: repansekj Ø gvestnik.si URL: http://www.gvestnik.si ÍSLAND Safto House NO 5 Esterhyzen Street PO Box 782 706 FRANCE Bokabud Larusar Blöndal PO Box 762 / 106 2146 Sandton Tel. (27-11) 883 37 37 Fax (27-11) 883 65 69 E-mail: emalstar@ide.co.za URL: http://www.safto.co.za Skólavördustig, 2 IS-101 Reykjavik Tel. (354) 551 56 50 Fax (354) 552 55 60 Journal officiel Service des publications des CE 26, rue Desaix F-75727 Paris Cedex 15 Tél. (33) 140 58 77 31 Fax (33) 140 58 77 00 TÜRKIYE NORGE Dünya Infotel AS SOUTH KOREA 100, Yil Mahallessi 34440 TR-80050 Bagcilar-Istanbul Tel. (90-212) 629 46 89 Fax (90-212) 629 46 27 Swets Norge AS Østenjovelen 18 Boks 6512 Etterstad N-0606 Oslo Tel. (47-22) 97 45 00 Fax (47-22) 97 45 45 Information Centre for Europe (ICE) Government Supplies Agency 204 Woo Soi Parktel 395-185 Seogyo Dong, Mapo Ku 121-210 Seoul Tel. (82-2) 322 53 03 Fax (82-2) 322 53 14 E-mail: euroInfo@shinbiro.com Publications Section 4-5 Harcourt Road Dublin 2 **AUSTRALIA** Tel. (353-1) 661 31 11 Fax (353-1) 475 27 60 **Hunter Publications** SCHWEIZ/SUISSE/SVIZZERA PO Box 404 3067 Abbotsford, Victoria Tel. (61-3) 94 17 53 61 Fax (61-3) 94 19 71 54 E-mail: jpdavies @ozemail.com.au Euro Info Center Schweiz THAILAND Co OSEC
Stampfenbachstraße 85
PF 492
CH-8035 Zürich
Tel. (41-1) 365 53 15
Fax (41-1) 365 54 11
E-mail: eis@osec.ch
URL: http://www.osec.ch/eics Licosa SpA EBIC Thalland Licosa SpA
Via Duca di Calabria, 1/1
Casella postale 552
I-50125 Firenze
Tel. (39-55) 64 54 15
Fax (39-55) 64 12 57
E-mail: licosa @ffbc.it
URL: http://www.ftbcc.it/licosa 29 Vanissa Building, 8th Floor Soi Chidlom Ploenchit 10330 Bangkok Tel. (66-2) 655 06 27 Fax (66-2) 655 06 28 E-mail: ebicbkk @ksc15.th.com URL: http://www.ebicbkk.org CANADA Renouf Publishing Co. Ltd 5389 Chemin Canotek Road Unit 1 K1J 9J3 Ottawa, Ontario Tel. (1-613) 745 26 65 Fax (1-613) 745 76 60 E-mail: order.dept@renoufbooks.com URL: http://www.renoufbooks.com BÅI GARLIA LUXEMBOURG Europress Euromedia Ltd UNITED STATES OF AMERICA Messageries du livre SARL 59, blvd Vitosha BG-1000 Sofia Tel. (359-2) 980 37 66 Fax (359-2) 980 42 30 E-mail: Milena ⊕mbox.cit.bg 5, rue Ralffeisen L-2411 Luxembourg Téi. (352) 40 10 20 Fax (352) 49 06 61 E-mail: mdl@pt.lu URL: http://www.mdl.lu Bernan Associates **EGYPT** 4611-F Assembly Drive Lanham MD20706 Tel. (1-800) 274 44 47 (toll free telephone) Fax (1-800) 865 34 50 (toll free fax) E-mail: query @beman.com URL: http://www.beman.com The Middle East Observer 41 Sherif Street Cairo ČESKÁ REPUBLIKA Tel. (20-2) 393 97 32 Fax (20-2) 393 97 32 ÚSIS Messageries Paul Kraus NIS-prodejna Havelkova 22 CZ-130 OD Praha 3 Tel. (420-2) 24 23 11 486 Fax (420-2) 24 23 11 14 E-mail: rkposp@dec.nis.cz URL: http://www.nis.cz HRVATSKA ANDERE LÄNDER/OTHER COUNTRIES/ AUTRES PAYS (3) ∋ Plantin Mediatrade Ltd ERIC 8-8 8-444 Pavla Hatza 1 HR-10000 Zagreb Tel. (385-1) 43 03 92 Fax (385-1) 43 03 92 Bitte wenden Sie sich an ein Büro (hrer Wahi / Please contact the sales office of your choice / Veuillez vous adresser au bureau de vente de votre choix E-m Full text Provided by ERIC J URL: http://www.mpk.lu 60

Exploring the returns to continuing vocational training in enterprises

A review of research within and outside of the European Union

Summary

Inherent in the notion of lifelong learning is that enterprises should increase investment in continuing vocational training. The general lack of information, however, as to the returns of such training for the State, sectors, enterprises, and individuals means that there are a number of difficulties in evaluating current and future investment decisions. This review presents research which has attempted to estimate the returns of employer-provided training, discusses the conceptual and methodological issues which exist in this context, and suggests ways in which research in this area can be usefully expanded. This report represents the first stage in formulating a CEDEFOP project in this area.

Dr Alan Barrett, Prof Dr Ben Hövels

Free of charge — 5083 EN —



Marinou Antipa 12, GR-57001 Thessaloniki Postal address:

P.O.B. 27 - Finikas, GR-55102 Thessaloniki Tel.: (30-31) 49 01 11 Fax: (30-31) 49 01 02

E-mail: info@cedefop.gr Internet: http://www.cedefop.gr



OFFICE FOR OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES



61

ISBN 92-828-4450-1





U.S. Department of Education



Office of Educational Research and Improvement (OERI)
National Library of Education (NLE)
Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC)

NOTICE

REPRODUCTION BASIS



This document is covered by a signed "Reproduction Release (Blanket) form (on file within the ERIC system), encompassing all or classes of documents from its source organization and, therefore, does not require a "Specific Document" Release form.

	This document is Federally-funded, or carries its own permission to
	reproduce, or is otherwise in the public domain and, therefore, may
	be reproduced by ERIC without a signed Reproduction Release form
	(either "Specific Document" or "Blanket").

